

INTERMEDIATE SMALL BANK

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE

April 26, 2021

COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT ACT PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

FCN Bank, National Association Charter Number 5629

> 501 Main Street Brookville, IN 47012

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency

Central Ohio Field Office 655 Metro Place South, Suite 625 Dublin, OH 43017

NOTE: This document is an evaluation of this institution's record of meeting the credit needs of its entire community, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods, consistent with safe and sound operation of the institution. This evaluation is not, and should not be construed as, an assessment of the financial condition of this institution. The rating assigned to this institution does not represent an analysis, conclusion, or opinion of the federal financial supervisory agency concerning the safety and soundness of this financial institution.

Table of Contents

Overall CRA Rating	2
Description of Institution	3
Scope of the Evaluation	4
Discriminatory or Other Illegal Credit Practices Review	
Multistate Metropolitan Statistical Area Rating	8
Cincinnati MMSA	
State Rating	18
State of Indiana	18
Appendix A: Scope of Examination	A-1
Appendix B: Summary of MMSA and State Ratings	B-1
Appendix C: Definitions and Common Abbreviations	C-1
Appendix D: Tables of Performance Data	.D-1

Overall CRA Rating

Institution's CRA Rating: This institution is rated Outstanding.

The Lending Test is rated: Outstanding. The Community Development Test is rated: Outstanding.

The major factors that support this rating include:

- The Lending Test rating is based on the state and multistate metropolitan statistical area (MMSA) ratings and the following overall conclusions.
 - The bank's quarterly average loan-to-deposit (LTD) ratio is reasonable.
 - A substantial majority of the bank's loans are inside the assessment areas (AAs).
 - The bank exhibits excellent geographic distribution of loans in the Cincinnati MMSA AA.
 - The bank exhibits an excellent distribution of loans to borrowers of different income levels and businesses of different sizes in the Cincinnati MMSA AA.
- The Community Development (CD) Test rating is based on the state and MMSA ratings, which are outstanding. Overall, the bank's level of CD lending, qualified investments, and CD services represents excellent responsiveness to CD needs, considering the bank's capacity and the need and availability of such opportunities for CD in the AAs.

Loan-to-Deposit Ratio

Considering the bank's size, financial condition, and credit needs of the AAs, the bank's loan-to-deposit ratio is reasonable.

FCN Bank, National Association's (FCN or the bank) quarterly average LTD ratio over the 12 quarters since the previous CRA evaluation (March 31, 2018 to December 31, 2020) is 66.7 percent. The ratio ranged from a low of 63.3 percent at June 30, 2018, to a high of 72.1 percent at June 30, 2020. The bank's quarterly average LTD ratio of 66.7 percent is lower than other financial institutions of similar size and location but is overall reasonable. The other 13 financial institutions of similar size and location have total assets of less than \$1 billion and bank offices in the AAs, with an average LTD ratio of 94.7 percent. Eight of the 13 financial institutions have LTD ratios over 90 percent. During the evaluation period, there was strong competition from other financial institutions. Additionally, the bank sold almost \$150 million in home mortgage loans to the secondary market in 2018 – 2020.

Lending in Assessment Area

A substantial majority of the bank's loans are inside its AAs.

The bank originated and purchased 87.7 percent of its total loans inside the bank's AAs during the evaluation period. This analysis is performed at the bank, rather than the AA, level.

Lending Inside and Outside of the Assessment A Number of Loans Dollar Am \$(nns			
Loan Category	Insie	le	Outs	side	Total I		Inside Outside			side Outside T		Total
	#	%	#	%	#	\$	%	\$	%	\$(000s)		
Home Mortgage	1,183	87.7	166	12.3	1,349	181,326	82.7	37,853	17.3	219,179		
Small Business	53	88.3	7	11.7	60	6,854	75.6	2,213	24.4	9,067		
Total	1,236	87.7	173	12.3	1,409	188,180	82.4	40,066	17.6	228,246		
Source: 01/01/18 – 12/31/18 Due to rounding, totals may		.0%		-		•	-		-	•		

Description of Institution

FCN is a full-service interstate bank headquartered in Brookville, Indiana. The bank is wholly owned by FCN Banc Corp., a one-bank holding company also headquartered in Brookville. As of December 31, 2020, total assets were \$681.3 million with \$372 million in net loans and leases, \$579.5 million in total deposits, and \$63.3 million in tier 1 capital.

The bank operates six full-service offices and one drive-up facility. Five of the six branches are in Indiana and one branch is in Harrison, Ohio. The bank's main office and separate drive-up facility are in Brookville, Indiana (Franklin County) in a moderate-income census tract (CT) as of the date of this report. Also located in Franklin County is the Batesville office in a middle-income CT as of the date of this report. The Connersville office is located north of Brookville in Fayette County in a middle-income CT. The Lawrenceburg, Indiana branch is in Dearborn County in a moderate-income CT. The Sunman branch is south of Brookville in Sunman, Indiana (Ripley County) in an upper-income CT. The Ohio branch is in Harrison, Ohio, in Hamilton County in an upper-income CT. All branches have automated teller machines (ATMs) except the main office. The drive-up facility in Brookville is located approximately one block away from the main office and has an ATM. During the evaluation period, the bank had two stand-alone ATMs, one in a gas station in Brookville was removed in September 2020. All offices have drive-up facilities, except the main office. The bank's branches are accessible to the entire community. Services offered and hours of operation are comparable among locations.

In May 2020, FCN bank merged with Dearborn Savings Bank. Dearborn Savings Bank had one office location at 595 West Eads Parkway in Lawrenceburg, Indiana. This location opened as an FCN branch on May 17, 2020. There were no other merger or acquisition activities that affected the scope of the bank's operations during the evaluation period. No branches were closed since the last CRA evaluation.

FCN's primary business focus is residential real estate (home mortgage) and commercial and industrial and commercial real estate (business) lending. The bank offers a variety of standard lending and deposit products and services through their full-service banking offices to accommodate their customers, including online and mobile banking. There are no substantial differences in the business focus or services offered between the bank's branches.

As of the December 31, 2020, Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income (Call Report) and Uniform Bank Performance Reports (UBPR), FCN's total loans equaled \$376.8 million representing

55.3 percent of total assets. The composition of loans includes home mortgage of 40 percent, business of 45 percent, consumer of 2 percent, and farm of 13 percent. During the evaluation period, the bank sold 905 home mortgage loans to the secondary market, totaling \$149.9 million.

FCN is an interstate financial institution with two AAs and two rating areas. The AAs are contiguous, meet the requirements of the CRA regulation, and do not arbitrarily exclude low- and moderate-income (LMI) geographies. The AAs and rating areas are described in the "Scope of the Evaluation" under "Selection of Areas for Full-Scope Review" and "Ratings."

FCN's prior CRA Performance Evaluation was dated March 13, 2018, and the overall CRA rating was Satisfactory. There are no financial or legal impediments that affected the bank's ability to help meet the credit needs of its AAs during the evaluation period. However, the global Coronavirus Disease (also referred to as COVID-19) pandemic in 2020 impacted the local economy, including unemployment data. The U.S. Small Business Administration's (SBA) Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) provided loans to help businesses keep their workforces employed during the COVID-19 crisis. The bank was particularly responsive to the SBA's PPP and originated a significant volume of PPP loans, given the bank's size and capacity.

Scope of the Evaluation

Evaluation Period/Products Evaluated

The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) conducted a CRA evaluation to assess the bank's record of meeting the credit and CD needs of its entire community, including LMI areas. The OCC used intermediate small bank CRA evaluation procedures to assess the bank's performance under the Lending Test and CD Test. The OCC analyzed lending activity in full-year increments during the evaluation period, January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. The CD Test considered CD loans, investments, and services since the previous CRA evaluation from March 14, 2018 to December 31, 2020 (CD evaluation period).

With an evaluation period end date of December 31, 2020, qualifying activities performed in response to the significant impact the Coronavirus pandemic has had on economies across the United States was included in this evaluation.

Based on discussions with management and the number and dollar volume of loan origination data supplied by the bank, the bank's primary lending focus is home mortgage and business lending. Based on the number of originated and purchased loans during the evaluation period (2018 – 2020), home mortgage loans accounted for 55 percent, business loans accounted for 21 percent, farm loans accounted for 3 percent, and consumer loans accounted for 21 percent of total loan originations and purchases. Based on the dollar volume of originated and purchased loans during the evaluation period, home mortgage loans accounted for 52 percent, business loans accounted for 40 percent, farm loans accounted for 6 percent, and consumer loans accounted for 2 percent of total loan originations and purchases.

To evaluate the bank's performance, the OCC relied on internal bank reports for the business loans. For lending in the AA, the OCC transaction tested 20 loans per year. For the geographic and borrower income (based on business revenues) distributions, the OCC transaction tested 20 business loans originated or purchased in 2018 and 40 business loans originated or purchased in 2019 – 2020. The OCC used all Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA) data for years 2018, 2019, and 2020 to analyze the bank's home mortgage loan performance.

For analysis purpose, the OCC compared the bank's lending performance with demographic data from the 2015 American Community Survey (ACS) U.S. Census and Dun and Bradstreet (D&B) Data as of June 2020. No affiliate activity was included in this analysis. Refer to the table in appendix A, Scope of the Examination, for more information on the scope of the review.

Selection of Areas for Full-Scope Review

In each state where the bank has an office, one or more of the AAs within that state was selected for a full-scope review. For purposes of this evaluation, bank delineated assessment areas located within the same metropolitan statistical area (MSA), multistate metropolitan statistical area (MMSA), or combined statistical area (CSA) are combined and evaluated as a single AA. Similarly, bank delineated non-MSA AAs within the same state are combined and evaluated as a single area. These combined AAs may be evaluated as full- or limited-scope. Refer to the "Scope" section under each State Rating for details regarding how full-scope AAs were selected. Refer to appendix A, Scope of Examination, for a list of full- and limited-scope AAs.

FCN has two AAs, one in the State of Indiana (Non-MSA AA) and one in the Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN MMSA 17140 (Cincinnati MMSA AA). The bank's AAs did not change since the previous CRA evaluation in 2018; however, Franklin County, Indiana moved from the Non-MSA AA in 2018 into the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019. Due to the transition of Franklin County from the Non-MSA AA to Cincinnati MMSA AA, the OCC analyzed 2018 separately from 2019 – 2020. The tables in Appendix D reflect the separate analyses. The bank's branch in Harrison, Ohio, is located near the Ohio/Indiana state line. As of 2019 and 2020, FCN had at least one branch in two different states of the Cincinnati MMSA AA (Indiana and Ohio).

In 2018, the bank's AAs included the following:

- Non-MSA AA: The AA included all of Franklin and Fayette counties and portions of Decatur, Ripley, and Rush counties in Indiana.
- Cincinnati MMSA AA: The AA included all of Dearborn and Union counties in Indiana and portions of Hamilton and Butler counties in Ohio.

In 2019 - 2020, the bank's AAs included the following:

- Non-MSA AA: The AA included Fayette County in its entirety and portions of Decatur, Ripley, and Rush counties in Indiana.
- Cincinnati MMSA AA: The AA included all of Dearborn, Franklin, and Union counties in Indiana and portions of Hamilton and Butler counties in Ohio.

The OCC completed a full-scope review for each AA. A community profile for each AA is provided in the "Description of Institution's Operations in the Cincinnati MMSA AA" and "Descriptions of Institution's Operations in Indiana."

Ratings

The bank's overall rating is a blend of the state (Indiana) and multistate ratings (Cincinnati MMSA).

The MMSA rating and state ratings are based on performance in all bank AAs. Refer to the "Scope" section under each state and MMSA Rating section for details regarding how the areas were weighted in arriving at the respective ratings. Due to the changes in the AAs resulting from Franklin County,

Indiana, moving from the Non-MSA AA in 2018 to the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019 - 2020, the OCC placed more weight on the AAs in 2019 and 2020. Additionally, the OCC placed more weight on the Cincinnati MMSA given that 63 percent of the home mortgage loans originated and purchased during the evaluation period and 80 percent of the total deposits as of June 30, 2020, are inside the Cincinnati MMSA AA.

Discriminatory or Other Illegal Credit Practices Review

Pursuant to 12 CFR 25.28(c) or 195.28(c), respectively, in determining a national bank's or federal savings association's (collectively, bank) CRA rating, the OCC considers evidence of discriminatory or other illegal credit practices in any geography by the bank, or in any AA by an affiliate whose loans have been considered as part of the bank's lending performance. As part of this evaluation process, the OCC consults with other federal agencies with responsibility for compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, including the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, and the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, as applicable.

The OCC has not identified that this institution has engaged in discriminatory or other illegal credit practices that require consideration in this evaluation.

The OCC will consider any information that this institution engaged in discriminatory or other illegal credit practices, identified by or provided to the OCC before the end of the institution's next performance evaluation in that subsequent evaluation, even if the information concerns activities that occurred during the evaluation period addressed in this performance evaluation.

Multistate Metropolitan Statistical Area Rating

Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN Multistate MSA 17140

CRA rating for the Cincinnati MMSA AA¹: Outstanding. The Lending Test is rated: Outstanding. The Community Development Test is rated: Outstanding.

The major factors that support this rating include:

- FCN exhibits excellent geographic distribution of loans in the MMSA.
- The bank's distribution of loans to borrowers of different income levels and businesses of different sizes is excellent.
- The bank's responsiveness to CD needs of the AA through CD lending, qualified investments, and CD services is overall excellent.

Description of Institution's Operations in the Cincinnati MMSA AA

Cincinnati MMSA AA

Assessment Area: Cincinnati MMSA AA 2018											
Demographic Characteristics	#	Low % of #	Moderate % of #	Middle % of #	Upper % of #	NA* % of #					
Geographies (Census Tracts)	24	4.2	8.3	66.7	8.3	12.5					
Population by Geography	111,782	1.4	8.0	68.1	10.0	12.5					
Housing Units by Geography	44,011	1.5	9.2	71.9	11.0	6.5					
Owner-Occupied Units by Geography	28,916	1.4	6.5	81.0	10.4	0.7					
Occupied Rental Units by Geography	10,947	1.8	15.7	51.9	12.3	18.4					
Vacant Units by Geography	4,148	1.2	11.8	60.6	11.1	15.3					
Businesses by Geography	5,778	2.5	16.0	67.7	8.2	5.5					
Farms by Geography	408	1.5	3.2	91.2	3.4	0.7					
Family Distribution by Income Level	26,536	18.8	17.9	23.2	40.1	0.0					
Household Distribution by Income Level	39,863	23.8	16.7	17.7	41.7	0.0					
Median Family Income MSA - 17140 Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN MSA		\$70,589	Median Housin	ig Value		\$155,503					
			Median Gross	Rent		\$763					
			Families Below	v Poverty Lev	/el	6.4%					

¹ This rating reflects performance within the MMSA. The statewide evaluations do not reflect performance in the parts of those states contained within the MMSA.

Assessment Area: Cincinnati MMSA AA 2019 – 2020											
Demographic Characteristics	#	Low % of #	Moderate % of #	Middle % of #	Upper % of #	NA* % of #					
Geographies (Census Tracts)	29	0.0	17.2	65.5	6.9	10.3					
Population by Geography	134,717	0.0	12.5	68.9	8.3	10.3					
Housing Units by Geography	53,564	0.0	14.1	71.6	9.0	5.3					
Owner-Occupied Units by Geography	35,987	0.0	11.1	80.0	8.4	0.5					
Occupied Rental Units by Geography	12,724	0.0	21.0	52.6	10.6	15.8					
Vacant Units by Geography	4,853	0.0	17.6	59.8	9.5	13.1					
Businesses by Geography	8,005	0.0	21.2	67.8	6.3	4.7					
Farms by Geography	635	0.0	7.1	89.8	2.7	0.5					
Family Distribution by Income Level	33,323	18.2	18.1	22.8	40.9	0.0					
Household Distribution by Income Level	48,711	22.8	16.4	18.3	42.6	0.0					
Median Family Income MSA - 17140 Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN MSA		\$69,949	Median Housi	ng Value		\$154,088					
			Median Gross	Rent		\$746					
			Families Belov	w Poverty Lev	/el	6.6%					

During the evaluation period, Franklin County, Indiana, transitioned from the Non-MSA AA in 2018 to the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019 and 2020. Therefore, the analysis regarding Franklin County, Indiana, will be included in the Cincinnati MMSA AA for 2019 and 2020 only. As stated above, in 2018 the Cincinnati MMSA AA included Dearborn and Union Counties in Indiana and portions of Butler County, Ohio (CTs 101.01, 101.02, 101.03, 101.04, 102.01, 102.02, and 102.03) and Hamilton County, Ohio (CTs 260.01, 260.02, 261.01, 261.02, and 262). In 2019 and 2020, the Cincinnati MMSA AA included Dearborn, Union, and Franklin counties in Indiana (entire counties) and the same CTs as indicated above for Butler and Hamilton Counties. The CTs in the AA are contiguous, meet the requirements of the CRA, and do not arbitrarily exclude LMI geographies. Bank management selected the AA based on their targeted lending territory, the area with the most deposit and lending activity, and office locations.

In addition to the Franklin County transition to the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019 and 2020, there was one CT classification change during the review period. In Hamilton County, Ohio, CT 262 transitioned from low-income in 2018 to moderate-income in 2019-2020. These were the only changes since the previous CRA evaluation. The CT changes were accounted for in the tables in Appendix D. According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2018, the Cincinnati MMSA AA consists of 24 CTs with one low-income, two moderate-income, 16 middle-income, two upper-income, and three CTs that have not been assigned an income classification. According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 29 CTs with zero low-income, five moderate-income, 19 middle-income, two upper-income, and three CTs that have not been assigned an income classification.

During the evaluation period, the bank opened one office in Lawrenceburg, Indiana resulting from the merger with Dearborn Savings Bank in 2020. All offices have ATM access except the main office. The bank had the following branches per year in the Cincinnati MMSA AA:

- 2018 FCN had one branch located in Harrison, Ohio, in an upper-income CT.
- 2019 FCN had three branches and one drive-up facility (Brookville), which included Brookville, Indiana (moderate-income CT), Batesville, Indiana (middle-income CT), and Harrison, Ohio (upper-income CT).
- 2020 FCN has four branches and one drive-up facility (Brookville), which includes Brookville (moderate-income CT), Batesville (middle-income CT), Harrison (upper-income CT), and Lawrenceburg, Indiana (moderate-income CT).

As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2019 and 2020, the Cincinnati MMSA AA includes 33,323 families and 48,711 households. Low-income families represent 18.2 percent and moderate-income families represent 18.1 percent of total families in the Cincinnati MMSA AA. The Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council's (FFIEC) weighted average median family income (updated each year) for the Cincinnati MMSA AA was \$77,000 for 2018, \$76,700 for 2019, and \$80,100 for 2020.

According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2018, the median housing value in the Cincinnati MMSA AA was \$155,503. Based on the weighted average of Census MSA Median Family Income of \$70,589 in the table above, low-income families make less than \$35,295 (individual income that is less than 50 percent of the area median family income) and moderate-income families make at least \$35,295 but less than \$56,471 (individual income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent of the area median family income). Overall median housing values are approximately 2.8 to 4.4 times the weighted average of Census MSA median family income of the LMI families in the AA. The housing costs relative to income may have a limiting effect on mortgage demand among some LMI families. As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census, there are 44,011 total housing units in the Cincinnati MMSA AA, of which 65.7 percent are owner-occupied and 24.8 percent are rental occupied units. Approximately 6.4 percent of the families and 12.8 percent of the households live below the poverty level. Families and households below the poverty level make it especially difficult for this segment of the population to afford and maintain a home or qualify for a loan.

According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2019 and 2020, the median housing value in the Cincinnati MMSA AA was \$154,088. Based on the weighted average of Census MSA Median Family Income of \$69,949 in the table above, low-income families make less than \$34,975 (individual income that is less than 50 percent of the area median family income) and moderate-income families make at least \$34,975 but less than \$55,959 (individual income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent of the area median family income). Overall median housing values are approximately 2.8 to 4.4 times the weighted average of Census MSA median family income of the LMI families in the AA. The housing costs relative to income may have a limiting effect on mortgage demand among some LMI families. As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census, there are 53,564 total housing units in the Cincinnati MMSA AA, of which 67.2 percent are owner-occupied and 23.8 percent are rental occupied units. Approximately 6.6 percent of the families and 12.4 percent of the households live below the poverty level.

Competition in the Cincinnati MMSA AA is strong due to the presence of many regional and community banks, as well as credit unions in the area. Competitors with significant deposit market share include U.S Bank, National Association (N.A.) and Fifth Third Bank, N.A. As of the

June 30, 2020 Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation's (FDIC's) Deposit Market Share Report, there were 43 financial institutions operating 388 banking offices in the Cincinnati MMSA AA, including FCN. Approximately 80 percent of FCN's total deposits at June 30, 2020, were in the Cincinnati MMSA AA. The June 30, 2020 FDIC deposit market share data shows FCN's \$445.1 million in total deposits in this AA ranks twelfth in overall deposit market share at 0.3 percent.

As stated above, home mortgage lending is a primary business focus for the bank. FCN ranks fifth out of 251 lenders in the AA in residential home mortgage volume based on the 2019 Peer Mortgage Data and 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data. FCN had a 3.5 percent lending market share as of the 2019 Peer Mortgage Data Report. Top mortgage lenders in the AA include First Financial Bank, Fifth Third Bank, N.A, U.S. Bank, N.A., and AmeriFirst Financial Corporation. The top four financial institutions in market share accounted for 22 percent of the total market share. During the evaluation period, 62.6 percent of the bank's home mortgage loan originations and purchases inside the AA were in the Cincinnati MMSA AA.

Business lending (small loans to businesses) is also a primary business focus. According to the 2019 Peer Small Business Data, ten banks dominate the small business lending market share in the AA, accounting for about 83 percent of the number of small loans originated, with one bank responsible for 21 percent of the number of small business loans made in the AA. FCN is not a CRA loan data reporter; therefore, the bank's data is not included in the Peer Small Business Data Report. According to the D&B Data as of June 2020, the AA has 8,005 non-farm businesses. The total number of non-farm businesses with gross revenues of \$1 million or less is 6,779, representing 84.7 percent of all non-farm businesses. Additionally, 65.2 percent of the businesses have fewer than five employees, 1.6 percent of the businesses are headquartered in the bank's AA, and 90 percent operate from a single location.

Overall, the economic conditions in the Cincinnati MMSA AA were stable during most of the evaluation period. As stated above, the country's economy suffered from a global pandemic (COVID-19) in 2020 and many people temporarily lost their jobs as a result. However, the Cincinnati MMSA AA's economy is coming back and is overall stable. The unemployment rates (not seasonally adjusted) as of December 2020 were overall higher than December 2019 for most of the counties in the AA. In both Ohio and Indiana, the December 2020 unemployment rates for each county in the AA were lower than the state and national rates.

Unemploymen	t Rates as of December 3	0 of each year (not seaso	nally adjusted)
	2018	2019	2020
Dearborn County, IN	3.6	3.2	3.6
Franklin County, IN	3.8	3.0	3.1
Union County, IN	3.3	2.9	2.7
Butler County, OH	4.2	3.3	4.4
Hamilton County, OH	4.2	3.3	5.0
State of Ohio	4.8	3.8	5.2
State of Indiana	3.4	3.0	4.0
United States	3.7	3.4	6.5

Source: Ohio Department of Job and Family Services/Office of Workforce Development/Bureau of Labor Market Information and Indiana Department of Workforce Development (DWD), Local Area Unemployment Statistics.

The Cincinnati MMSA AA has a diversified economic base, including manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade, education and health services, government, and transportation. Many individuals in the AA commute to jobs in surrounding cities, including Cincinnati and Dayton, Ohio. Primary employers in

Dearborn County, Indiana include Hollywood Casino, Matthews Aurora Funeral Solutions, and Perfect North Slopes. Primary employers in Franklin County, Indiana include Hillenbrand Inc., Margaret Mary Health, and Batesville Tool & Die Inc. Major employers in Union County, Indiana include NSK Corporation, First Merchants Bank, and the local school systems. Major employers in Hamilton County, Ohio include Kroger Co., Cincinnati Children's Hospital, Procter & Gamble Co., and Cincinnati/Northern Kentucky International Airport. Major employers in Butler County, Ohio include Miami University and AK Steel Holding Corp.

As part of this CRA evaluation, the OCC reviewed information provided from interviews with representatives from affordable housing or other non-profit organizations. The contacts identified affordable housing, short-term loans, and home maintenance/rehab loans as needs in the community. In general, local financial institutions are adequately meeting the credit and CD needs of the community.

Scope of Evaluation in Cincinnati MMSA AA

The OCC performed a full-scope review of the Cincinnati MMSA AA. The data in the AA was analyzed and presented as one AA for purposes of this evaluation. Home mortgage and business loans are the bank's primary lending products and were evaluated under the Lending Test. The OCC transaction tested 60 small business loans that were originated or purchased inside the AA for the geographic and borrower income distribution analysis. The OCC used HMDA data for 2018, 2019, and 2020 for the home mortgage analysis. The OCC reviewed CD loans, investments, and services in the AA during the evaluation period. Refer to the "Scope of the Evaluation" section for more details.

Of the home mortgage loans originated or purchased inside the AAs, approximately 62.6 percent were in the MMSA AA. According to the FDIC's Deposit Market Share Report as of June 30, 2020, approximately 80 percent of the bank's deposits are in the Cincinnati MMSA AA, with 20 percent in the Non-MSA AA. Of the total loan originations and purchases during the evaluation period, 55 percent by number and 52 percent by dollar volume were home mortgage loans and 21 percent by number and 40 percent by dollar volume were business loans. The OCC placed equal weight on the two primary products. Due to the changes in the AAs resulting from Franklin County, Indiana, moving from the Non-MSA AA in 2018 to the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019 – 2020, the OCC placed more weight on the AAs in 2019 and 2020. Additionally, the OCC placed more weight on the Cincinnati MMSA given that 62.6 percent of the home mortgage loans and 80 percent of the total deposits are inside the MMSA AA.

For CD, the OCC placed more weight on the bank's CD lending, as the bank was particularly responsive to the SBA's PPP loans in 2020. Refer to the "Number and Amount of Community Development Loans" under the "Community Development Test" for more information.

CONCLUSIONS WITH RESPECT TO PERFORMANCE TESTS IN THE CINCINNATI MMSA AA

LENDING TEST

The bank's performance under the Lending Test in the Cincinnati MMSA AA is rated Outstanding.

Based on a full-scope review, the bank's performance in the Cincinnati MMSA AA is excellent.

As stated above, the OCC placed more weight on the Cincinnati MMSA AA and the 2019 – 2020 analysis. The OCC noted that 700 of the 740 (95 percent) home mortgage loans originated or purchased during the evaluation period in the Cincinnati MMSA AA were in 2019 and 2020, with only 40 home mortgages originated or purchased in 2018. Additionally, two of the three years (2019 and 2020) in the evaluation period included more branches in moderate-income CTs when Franklin County, Indiana, transitioned from the Non-MSA AA into the MMSA AA, which can contribute to more lending in moderate-income areas.

Distribution of Loans by Income Level of the Geography

The bank exhibits excellent geographic distribution of loans in the MMSA.

Home Mortgage Loans

Refer to Table O in the "MMSA" section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the geographic distribution of the bank's home mortgage loan originations and purchases.

The OCC compared the percentage of home mortgage loans originated or purchased by the bank to the percentage of owner-occupied housing units (demographic data) in the four geographic income categories, placing emphasis on the LMI geographies. The OCC also compared the bank's performance against the percentage of home mortgage loans of other mortgage lenders (aggregate data) in the AA, as demonstrated by HMDA aggregate data.

The bank exhibits excellent geographic distribution of home mortgage loans in the Cincinnati MMSA AA.

In 2019 and 2020, FCN originated 700 home mortgage loans in the Cincinnati MMSA AA. There were no low-income CTs. The bank's percentage of lending in moderate-income geographies exceeded both demographic and aggregate lending data, demonstrating excellent performance.

In 2018, the percentage of home mortgage loans originated by the bank in low-income CTs was below both demographic and aggregate lending data of other HMDA reports. However, there was only one low-income CT in the AA, and it was not near a branch. The bank's level of lending in the moderateincome CTs was also below demographic and aggregate lending data but is considered overall reasonable. In 2018, the bank only originated 40 home mortgage loans in this AA. The bank had one branch in an upper-income CT in the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2018, which was the Harrison, Ohio Branch. In the lending analysis, the OCC also considered several performance context factors. The analysis took into consideration the limited opportunities to lend in the low-income tracts given the low level of owner-occupied housing. As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census data, the average age of housing stock in 2018 was approximately 43 years. The maintenance costs associated with older housing stock is a significant obstacle to homeownership, which could result in a reduction of mortgage loan demand. Competition in the Cincinnati MMSA AA is strong, with many financial institutions competing for the same loans and some lenders offering first-time homebuyer loan products and services to attract such loans.

Small Loans to Businesses

Refer to Table Q in the "MMSA" section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the geographic distribution of the bank's originations and purchases of small loans to businesses.

The OCC compared the percentage of the number of small loans to businesses originated or purchased by the bank in the four geographic income categories to the distribution of businesses throughout those geographies (demographic data), placing emphasis on the LMI geographies. The OCC also compared the bank's performance against the percentage of small loans to businesses of other lenders (aggregate data), as demonstrated by CRA aggregate data.

FCN exhibits an overall excellent geographic distribution of small loans to businesses in the Cincinnati MMSA AA.

In 2019 and 2020, the percentage of small loans to businesses originated or purchased by the bank in the moderate-income CTs significantly exceeded both the demographic comparator and CRA aggregate lending data of other lenders, representing excellent performance. There were no low-income CTs in the AA during this review period.

In 2018, FCN's percentage of small loans to businesses originated or purchased by the bank in the lowincome CTs exceeded the demographic data but was below aggregate lending data. The bank's percentage of loans in the moderate-income CTs was below both demographic and aggregate lending data. The bank had one branch in this AA in 2018 in Harrison, Ohio, in an upper-income CT.

Lending Gap Analysis

Overall, the OCC did not identify any unexplained, conspicuous gaps in the lending distribution. The OCC reviewed internal bank reports and maps to identify potential significant gaps in the distribution of loans over the evaluation period.

Distribution of Loans by Income Level of the Borrower

The bank exhibits an excellent distribution of loans to individuals of different income levels and businesses of different sizes, given the product lines offered by the bank.

Home Mortgage Loans

Refer to Table P in the "MMSA" section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the borrower distribution of the bank's home mortgage loan originations and purchases.

The OCC compared the percentage of home mortgage loans originated or purchased by the bank to low-, moderate-, middle-, and upper-income borrowers to the percentage distribution of families by income level (demographic data), placing emphasis on lending to LMI families. The OCC also compared the bank's performance against home mortgage loans of other home mortgage lenders (aggregate data), as demonstrated by HMDA aggregate data.

FCN's overall distribution of home mortgage loans by borrower income level reflects an excellent distribution.

In 2019 and 2020, the bank's level of home mortgage lending to low-income borrowers exceeds aggregate data but is below demographic data. FCN's level of home mortgage lending to moderate-income borrowers exceeds both demographic and aggregate data, demonstrating excellent performance.

In 2018, the bank's level of home mortgage lending to LMI borrowers was below both aggregate and demographic data but is overall reasonable.

The OCC considered other factors in the bank's performance during the review, including the cost of homeownership in the AA as an obstacle to homeownership for LMI borrowers. As stated above, the overall median housing values are 2.8 to 4.4 times the weighted average of median family income of LMI families in the AA. This obstacle may result in fewer opportunities to originate mortgage loans to LMI families. Additionally, 6.4 and 6.6 percent, for 2018 and 2019 – 2020 respectively, of the families live below poverty.

Competition in the AA is strong. As stated above, FCN ranks fifth out of 251 lenders in home mortgage lending market share at 3.5 percent, as of the 2019 Peer Mortgage Data, behind four larger financial institutions (First Financial Bank, Fifth Third, N.A, U.S. Bank, N.A. and AmeriFirst Financial Corporation). The top four mortgage lenders in this AA account for almost 22 percent of the home mortgage loan originations. As of the 2018 Peer Mortgage Data, FCN ranked 25th out of 229 lenders with a market share of 1.2 percent due to Franklin County, Indiana, not being included in the MMSA AA in 2018.

Small Loans to Businesses

Refer to Table R in the "MMSA" section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the borrower distribution of the bank's originations and purchases of small loans to businesses.

The OCC compared the percentage distribution of the number of small loans to businesses originated and purchased by the bank (by annual gross revenue level) to businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less. The OCC also compared the bank's performance to aggregate small business data, as demonstrated by CRA aggregate data.

FCN exhibits an excellent distribution of small loans to businesses of different sizes within the AA.

As evidenced in Table R in Appendix D for 2019 and 2020, the bank's percentage of small loans to businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less significantly exceeds CRA aggregate lending data, but is below the percentage of businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less (demographic data). In the lending analysis, the OCC considered performance context factors, including strong competition in the AA. Ten larger financial institutions account for over 83 percent of the small business lending market share in the AA, as of the 2019 Peer Small Business Data Report. As of the June 2020 D&B data, only 1.6 percent of the businesses are headquartered in the bank's AA.

As of 2018, the bank's percentage of small loans to businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less significantly exceeds CRA aggregate lending data but is below the percentage of businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less (demographic data). In the lending analysis, the OCC considered performance context factors, including strong competition in the AA. Ten larger financial institutions account for about 83 percent of the small business loan market share in the AA, as of the 2018 Peer Small Business Data Report. As of the June 2018 D&B data, only 1.9 percent of the businesses are headquartered in the bank's AA.

Responses to Complaints

The bank has not received any complaints about its CRA performance in helping to meet the AA's credit needs during the evaluation period.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT TEST

The bank's performance under the Community Development Test in the Cincinnati MMSA AA is rated Outstanding.

Based on a full-scope review, the bank exhibits excellent responsiveness to CD needs in the MMSA through CD loans, qualified investments, and CD services, as appropriate, considering the bank's capacity and the need and availability of such opportunities for CD in the bank's AAs.

FCN was particularly responsive to the current COVID-19 pandemic, and its level of CD loans were highly impactful. The OCC placed more weight on CD lending, given the bank's excellent responsiveness to the COVID-19 crisis and volume of CD loans made in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Number and Amount of Community Development Loans

Refer to the CD Loan table below for the facts and data used to evaluate the bank's level of CD lending. The table includes all CD loans, including multifamily loans that also qualify as CD loans.

Community Development Loans										
		Total								
Assessment Area	#	% of Total #	\$(000's)	% of Total \$						
Cincinnati MMSA AA	173	91.0	\$11,449	86.6						
Statewide/Regional Loans with Direct Benefit	17	9.0	\$1,769	13.4						

FCN's CD lending reflects excellent responsiveness to the CD needs in the MMSA. FCN originated 173 qualified CD loans inside the Cincinnati MMSA AA and 17 CD loans in the broader statewide or regional area, totaling \$13.2 million, which equates to 26.2 percent of allocated tier 1 capital based on total deposits in the AA. Allocated tier 1 capital is calculated based upon the percentage of total deposits in the AA as of June 30, 2020.

FCN originated one loan totaling \$100,000 to borrowers that provide affordable housing to LMI individuals in the Lawrenceburg, Indiana area. The bank originated four loans totaling \$216,622 to borrowers that provide essential services in LMI CTs, including healthcare, transportation services, meal deliveries, and fire protection services.

In response to the global COVID-19 pandemic, FCN originated 168 SBA PPP loans totaling \$11.1 million to borrowers to help stabilize and revitalize local communities and to help businesses keep their workforces employed. Of the 168 loans, 56 loans totaling \$3.8 million were originated in moderate-

income CTs, which represents 33 percent and 34 percent of the totals in this AA, respectively. Given the current COVID-19 crisis, the PPP loans are innovative, flexible loan products, and the bank was particularly responsive to the community's needs.

Statewide/Regional Loans

FCN is responsive to the CD needs and opportunities in its AA; therefore, the OCC also considered CD lending in the broader regional area that provided direct benefit to the bank's delineated AA. The bank originated 17 SBA PPP loans in the broader regional area in Ohio totaling \$1.8 million. These loans were originated in Hamilton, Butler, and Clermont counties in the MMSA.

Number and Amount of Qualified Investments

	Qualified Investments										
Prior Current Total									U	nfunded	
Assessment	F	Period*		Period Commitments**							
Area	#	\$(000's)	#	\$(000's)	#	% of	\$(000's)	% of	#	\$(000's)	
						Total #		Total			
								\$			
Cincinnati	0	0	21	\$45	21	100.0	\$45	100.0	0	0	
MMSA AA											

* Prior Period Investments means investments made in a previous evaluation period that are outstanding as of the examination date. ** Unfunded Commitments means legally binding investment commitments that are tracked and recorded by the institution's financial reporting system.

The Qualified Investment Table, shown above, sets forth the information and data used to evaluate the bank's level of qualified CD investments. The table includes all CD investments, including prior period investments that remain outstanding as of the examination date.

FCN originated 21 qualified CD investments/donations to 16 different organizations inside the Cincinnati MMSA AA during the evaluation period, totaling \$44,936. This equates to 0.1 percent of allocated tier 1 capital based on total deposits in the AA as of June 30, 2020. The organizations provide services to LMI individuals, including donations to community foundations or other organizations that support local jobs and COVID-19 relief efforts and provide youth programs in LMI areas, low-cost health services to LMI children, and essential fire and emergency protections services in LMI areas.

Extent to Which the Bank Provides Community Development Services

FCN provided an excellent level of CD services within the MMSA AA during the review period and had a positive impact on the AA's needs. During the evaluation period, the bank had 16 employees provide CD services to 20 different organizations in the AAs, totaling over 1,196 hours during the review period. Twelve of these employees provided CD services in both the State of Indiana and the MMSA rating areas. The OCC noted that multiple employees serve as either a board member, treasurer, or executive committee member of CD organizations, demonstrating a high level of involvement and leadership.

Bank personnel provide technical and financial expertise in the Cincinnati MMSA AA. During the CD evaluation period, bank officers and/or employees provided CD qualifying services to various community organizations. These organizations provide essential services to LMI individuals as well as services to organizations dedicated to promoting economic development and stabilization. For example, two bank employees work with the Franklin County Community Foundation as a board member and treasurer. The foundation is used to build permanent endowed funds for charitable purposes, including

scholarships and grants to LMI students. In addition, several bank employees work with the local chambers of commerce within the AA, as a director, treasurer or serve on an executive committee, promoting economic development and small business assistance in the AA.

State Rating

State of Indiana

CRA rating for the State of Indiana²: Satisfactory. The Lending Test is rated: Satisfactory. The Community Development Test is rated: Outstanding.

The major factors that support this rating include:

- FCN exhibits reasonable geographic distribution of loans in the state.
- The bank's distribution of loans to borrowers of different income levels and businesses of different sizes is reasonable.
- The bank's responsiveness to CD needs of the AA through CD lending, qualified investments, and CD services is overall excellent.

Description of Institution's Operations in Indiana

Non-MSA AA

Demogra	phic Inform	nation of the	e Assessment A	Area								
Assessment Area: Non-MSA AA 2018												
Demographic Characteristics	#	Low % of #	Moderate % of #	Middle % of #	Upper % of #	NA* % of #						
Geographies (Census Tracts)	24	0.0	25.0	50.0	25.0	0.0						
Population by Geography	100,304	0.0	20.7	48.6	30.7	0.0						
Housing Units by Geography	43,368	0.0	22.9	47.7	29.4	0.0						
Owner-Occupied Units by Geography	28,432	0.0	18.4	50.3	31.3	0.0						
Occupied Rental Units by Geography	10,811	0.0	31.4	43.2	25.4	0.0						
Vacant Units by Geography	4,125	0.0	31.0	42.2	26.8	0.0						
Businesses by Geography	5,432	0.0	21.5	42.6	35.9	0.0						
Farms by Geography	736	0.0	8.7	46.6	44.7	0.0						
Family Distribution by Income Level	27,786	18.5	19.2	21.1	41.2	0.0						
Household Distribution by Income Level	39,243	21.9	15.6	20.4	42.1	0.0						
Median Family Income Non-MSAs - IN		\$55,741	Median Housi	ng Value		\$119,069						
			Median Gross	Rent		\$659						
			Families Belov	w Poverty Lev	/el	10.4%						

² This rating reflects performance within the state. The statewide evaluations do not reflect performance in the parts of those states contained within the MMSA.

Assessment Area: Non-MSA AA 2019 - 2020											
Demographic Characteristics	#	Low % of #	Moderate % of #	Middle % of #	Upper % of #	NA* % of #					
Geographies (Census Tracts)	19	0.0	26.3	47.4	26.3	0.0					
Population by Geography	77,369	0.0	22.1	44.4	33.6	0.0					
Housing Units by Geography	33,815	0.0	24.9	43.1	31.9	0.0					
Owner-Occupied Units by Geography	21,361	0.0	19.4	45.9	34.7	0.0					
Occupied Rental Units by Geography	9,034	0.0	34.8	38.5	26.7	0.0					
Vacant Units by Geography	3,420	0.0	33.5	38.0	28.5	0.0					
Businesses by Geography	4,961	0.0	23.7	36.1	40.2	0.0					
Farms by Geography	565	0.0	9.9	35.6	54.5	0.0					
Family Distribution by Income Level	20,999	19.4	19.3	21.0	40.3	0.0					
Household Distribution by Income Level	30,395	23.1	15.8	20.3	40.7	0.0					
Median Family Income Non-MSAs - IN		\$55,715	Median Housi	ng Value		\$111,019					
			Median Gross	Rent		\$664					
			Families Belov	v Poverty Lev	rel	11.3%					

Due to rounding, totals may not equal 100.0%

(*) The NA category consists of geographies that have not been assigned an income classification.

During the evaluation period, Franklin County, Indiana, transitioned from the Non-MSA AA in 2018 to the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019 and 2020. Therefore, the analysis regarding Franklin County, Indiana, will be included in the Non-MSA AA for 2018 only. As stated above, in 2018 the Non-MSA AA included Franklin and Fayette Counties in their entirety and portions of Decatur County (CTs 9690, 9692, 9693, and 9694), Ripley County (CTs 9684, 9685, 9686, 9688, and 9689), and Rush County (9741, 9743, and 9744). In 2019 and 2020, the Non-MSA AA included Fayette County in its entirety, and portions of Decatur, Ripley, and Rush County, as described in 2018. The CTs in the AA are contiguous, meet the requirements of the CRA, and do not arbitrarily exclude LMI geographies. Bank management selected the AAs based on their targeted lending territory, the area with the most deposit and lending activity, and office locations.

There were no significant changes to the CTs in the Non-MSA, other than the transition of Franklin County, Indiana from the Non-MSA AA in 2018 into the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019, which is reflected in the tables in Appendix D. According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2018, the Non-MSA AA consisted of 24 CTs with zero low-income, six moderate-income, 12 middle-income, and six upper income CTs. According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2019 and 2020, the Non-MSA AA consisted of 19 CTs with zero low-income, five moderate-income, nine middle-income, and five upper income CTs.

All branches have ATM access except the main office. During the evaluation period, the bank had the following branches per year in the Indiana Non-MSA AA:

- 2018 FCN had four branches and one drive-up facility (Brookville) in the Non-MSA AA, which included Connersville (middle-income CT), Sunman (upper-income CT), Brookville (middle-income CT) and Batesville (upper-income CT).
- 2019 2020 FCN had two branches in the Non-MSA AA, which included Connersville (middle-income CT) and Sunman (upper-income CT).

As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census data for 2019 and 2020, the Non-MSA AA includes 20,999 families and 30,395 households. Low-income families represent 19.4 percent and moderate-income families represent 19.3 percent of total families in the Non-MSA AA. The FFIEC's weighted average median family income (updated each year) for the Non-MSA AA was \$61,000 for 2018, \$61,200 for 2019, and \$63,800 for 2020.

According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2018, the median housing value in the Non-MSA AA was \$119,069. Based on the weighted average of Census MSA Median Family Income of \$55,741 in the table above, low-income families make less than \$27,870 (individual income that is less than 50 percent of the area median family income) and moderate-income families make at least \$27,870 but less than \$44,593 (individual income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent of the area median family income). Overall median housing values are approximately 2.7 to 4.3 times the weighted average of Census MSA median family income of the LMI families in the AA. The housing costs relative to income may have a limiting effect on mortgage demand among some LMI families. As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census, there are 43,368 total housing units in the Non-MSA AA, of which 65.6 percent are owner-occupied and 24.9 percent are rental occupied units. Approximately 10.4 percent of the families and 13.4 percent of the households live below the poverty level. Families and households below the poverty level make it especially difficult for this segment of the population to afford and maintain a home or qualify for a loan.

According to the 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data for 2019 and 2020, the median housing value in the Non-MSA AA was \$111,019. Based on the weighted average of Census MSA Median Family Income of \$55,715 in the table above, low-income families make less than \$27,858 (individual income that is less than 50 percent of the area median family income) and moderate-income families make at least \$27,858 but less than \$44,572 (individual income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent of the area median family income). Overall median housing values are approximately 2.5 to 4.0 times the weighted average of Census MSA median family income of the LMI families in the AA. The housing costs relative to income may have a limiting effect on mortgage demand among some LMI families. As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census, there are 33,815 total housing units in the Non-MSA AA, of which 63.2 percent are owner-occupied and 26.7 percent are rental occupied units. Approximately 11.3 percent of the families and 14.3 percent of the households live below the poverty level. Families and households below the poverty level make it especially difficult for this segment of the population to afford and maintain a home or qualify for a loan.

Competition in the Non-MSA AA is strong due to the presence of many regional and community banks. Competitors with significant deposit market share include First Financial Bank, Fifth Third Bank, N.A., and the Napoleon State Bank. As of the June 30, 2020 FDIC's Deposit Market Share Report, there were 16 financial institutions operating 38 banking offices in the Non-MSA AA, including FCN. Approximately 20 percent of FCN's total deposits at June 30, 2020, were in the Non-MSA AA. The June 30, 2020 FDIC deposit market share data shows FCN's \$112.6 million in total deposits in this AA ranks sixth in overall deposit market share at 5.6 percent. As stated above, home mortgage lending is a primary business focus for the bank. FCN ranks fourth out of 170 lenders in the AA in residential home mortgage volume based on the 2019 Peer Mortgage Data and 2015 ACS U.S. Census Data. FCN had a 4 percent lending market share as of the 2019 Peer Mortgage Data Report. Top mortgage lenders in the AA include First Financial Bank, Fifth Third Bank, N.A, and Quicken Loans. As of the 2018 Peer Mortgage Data Report, FCN was ranked second with a market share of 6.3 percent. During the evaluation period, 37.4 percent of the bank's home mortgage loan originations and purchases inside the AA were in the Non-MSA AA.

Business lending (small loans to businesses) is also a primary business focus. According to the 2019 Peer Small Business Data, ten banks dominate the small business lending market share in the AA, accounting for about 77 percent of the number of small loans originated, with three banks responsible for 41 percent of the number of small business loans made in the AA. As stated above, the bank is not a CRA loan data reporter; therefore, the bank's data is not included in the Peer Small Business Data Report. According to the D&B Data as of June 2020, the AA has 4,961 non-farm businesses. The total number of non-farm businesses with gross revenues of \$1 million or less is 3,991, representing 80.4 percent of all non-farm businesses. Additionally, 66.2 percent of the businesses have fewer than five employees, 2.2 percent of the businesses are headquartered in the bank's AA, and 86.2 percent operate from a single location.

Overall, the economic conditions in the Non-MSA AA are stable. As stated above, the country's economy suffered from a global pandemic (COVID-19) in 2020 and many people temporarily lost their jobs as a result. However, Indiana's economy is pushing forward and getting stronger. The unemployment rates (not seasonally adjusted) as of December 2020 were overall higher than December 2019 for the counties in the AA. The December 2020 unemployment rates for each county in the AA were lower than the state and national rates, except for Fayette County. Fayette County has historically had higher unemployment rates than the other counties in the AA and the state and national rates.

Unemployment Rates as of December 30 of each year (not seasonally adjusted)										
	2018	2019	2020							
Decatur County, IN	3.1	2.7	3.3							
Fayette County, IN	4.7	4.7	5.6							
Franklin County, IN	3.8	3.0	3.1							
Ripley County, IN	3.5	2.9	3.1							
Rush County, IN	3.0	2.3	3.3							
State of Indiana	3.4	3.0	4.0							
United States	3.7	3.4	6.5							

Source: Ohio Department of Job and Family Services/Office of Workforce Development/Bureau of Labor Market Information and Indiana Department of Workforce Development (DWD), Local Area Unemployment Statistics.

The Non-MSA AA has a diverse mix of industries, including manufacturing, education and health services, retail trade, and state/local government. Primary employers in Decatur County, Indiana include Delta Faucet Co., Honda Manufacturing of Indiana, and Valeo Engine Cooling Inc. Major employers in Fayette County, Indiana include Stant Corporation, Walmart Supercenter, and Issues & Answers Network Inc. Primary employers in Franklin County, Indiana include Hillenbrand Inc., Margaret Mary Health, and Batesville Tool & Die Inc. Major employers in Ripley County, Indiana include government offices, Occasions Group, and Blue Flame Gas. Major employers in Rush County, Indiana include Rush Memorial Hospital, Emerson Climate Technologies, and INTAT Precision Inc.

As part of this CRA evaluation, the OCC reviewed information provided from interviews with representatives from affordable housing or other non-profit organizations. The contacts identified affordable housing as a need in the community, including assistance to Habitat for Humanity. Additionally, one contact stated a need for assistance with the local food banks. In general, local financial institutions are adequately meeting the credit and CD needs of the community.

Scope of Evaluation in Indiana

The OCC performed a full-scope review of the Non-MSA AA. The data in the AA was analyzed and presented as one AA for purposes of this evaluation. Home mortgage and business loans are the bank's primary lending products and were evaluated under the Lending Test. The OCC transaction tested 60 business loans that were originated or purchased inside the AA for the geographic distribution and borrower income analysis. The OCC used HMDA data for 2018, 2019, and 2020 for the home mortgage analysis. The OCC reviewed CD loans, investments, and services in the AA during the evaluation period. Refer to the "Scope of the Evaluation" section for more details.

Of the home mortgage loans originated or purchased inside the AAs, approximately 37.4 percent were in the Non-MSA AA. According to the FDIC's Deposit Market Share Report as of June 30, 2020, only 20 percent of the bank's deposits are in the Non-MSA AA. As stated under the "Scope of the Evaluation in the Cincinnati MMSA" section, the OCC placed equal weight on the two primary products. Due to the changes in the AAs resulting from Franklin County, Indiana, moving from the Non-MSA AA in 2018 to the Cincinnati MMSA AA in 2019 – 2020, the OCC placed more weight on the AAs in 2019 and 2020. Additionally, the OCC placed more weight on the Cincinnati MMSA AA.

For CD, the OCC placed more weight on the bank's CD lending, as the bank was particularly responsive to the SBA's PPP loans in 2020. Refer to the "Number and Amount of Community Development Loans" under the "Community Development Test" for more information.

CONCLUSIONS WITH RESPECT TO PERFORMANCE TESTS IN INDIANA

LENDING TEST

The bank's performance under the Lending Test in Indiana is rated Satisfactory.

Conclusions for Area Receiving a Full-Scope Review

Based on a full-scope review, the bank's lending performance in the state of Indiana is reasonable.

Distribution of Loans by Income Level of the Geography

The bank exhibits reasonable geographic distribution of loans in the state.

Home Mortgage Loans

Refer to Table O in the state of Indiana section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the geographic distribution of the bank's home mortgage loan originations and purchases.

The OCC compared the percentage of home mortgage loans originated or purchased by the bank to the percentage of owner-occupied housing units (demographic data) in the four geographic income categories, placing emphasis on the LMI geographies. The OCC also compared the bank's performance against the percentage of home mortgage loans of other mortgage lenders (aggregate data) in the AA, as demonstrated by HMDA aggregate data.

The bank exhibits overall poor geographic distribution of home mortgage loans in the Non-MSA AA. In the Non-MSA AA, FCN does not have any branches in LMI CTs.

In 2019 – 2020, FCN originated 281 home mortgage loans in the Non-MSA AA. There were no lowincome CTs. The bank's percentage of lending in moderate-income geographies was significantly below both demographic and aggregate lending data, demonstrating overall poor performance.

In 2018, the bank originated 162 home mortgage loans in the Non-MSA AA. The percentage of home mortgage loans originated by the bank in moderate-income CTs was below both demographic and aggregate lending data of other HMDA reports. There were no low-income CTs.

In the lending analysis, the OCC also considered several performance context factors. As of the 2015 ACS U.S. Census data, the average age of housing stock in 2018 was approximately 51 years and 53 years for 2019 - 2020. The maintenance costs associated with older housing stock is a significant obstacle to homeownership, which could result in a reduction of mortgage loan demand. Competition in the Non-MSA AA is strong, with many financial institutions competing for the same loans and some lenders offering first-time homebuyer loan products and services to attract such loans.

Small Loans to Businesses

Refer to Table Q in the state of Indiana section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the geographic distribution of the bank's originations and purchases of small loans to businesses.

The OCC compared the percentage of the number of small loans to businesses originated or purchased by the bank in the four geographic income categories to the distribution of businesses throughout those geographies (demographic data), placing emphasis on the LMI geographies. The OCC also compared the bank's performance against the percentage of small loans to businesses of other lenders (aggregate data), as demonstrated by CRA aggregate data.

FCN exhibits an overall reasonable geographic distribution of small loans to businesses in the Non-MSA AA.

In 2019 - 2020, the percentage of small loans to businesses originated or purchased by the bank in the moderate-income CTs was below both the demographic comparator and CRA aggregate lending data of other lenders but is overall reasonable. There were no low-income CTs in the AA during this review period.

In 2018, FCN's percentage of small loans to businesses originated or purchased by the bank in the moderate-income CTs significantly exceeded demographic data and aggregate lending data. There were no low-income CTs in the MMSA AA.

Lending Gap Analysis

Overall, the OCC did not identify any unexplained, conspicuous gaps in the lending distribution. The OCC reviewed internal bank reports and maps to identify potential significant gaps in the distribution of loans over the evaluation period.

Distribution of Loans by Income Level of the Borrower

The bank exhibits reasonable distribution of loans to individuals of different income levels and businesses of different sizes, given the product lines offered by the bank.

Home Mortgage Loans

Refer to Table P in the state of Indiana section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the borrower distribution of the bank's home mortgage loan originations and purchases.

The OCC compared the percentage of home mortgage loans originated or purchased by the bank to low-, moderate-, middle-, and upper-income borrowers to the percentage distribution of families by income level (demographic data), placing emphasis on lending to LMI families. The OCC also compared the bank's performance against home mortgage loans of other home mortgage lenders (aggregate data), as demonstrated by HMDA aggregate data.

FCN's overall distribution of home mortgage loans by borrower income level reflects reasonable distribution.

In 2019 and 2020, the bank's level of home mortgage lending to low-income borrowers is near aggregate data but below demographic. FCN's level of home mortgage lending to moderate-income borrowers is near demographic data but below aggregate data.

In 2018, the bank's level of home mortgage lending to low-income borrowers is below both aggregate and demographic data. FCN's level of home mortgage lending to moderate-income borrowers exceeds both demographic and aggregate data.

The OCC considered other factors in the bank's performance during the review, including the cost of homeownership in the AA as an obstacle to homeownership to LMI borrowers. As stated above, the overall median housing values are 2.5 to 4.0 times the weighted average of median family income of LMI families in the AA in 2019 and 2020 and 2.7 to 4.3 times the weighted average in 2018. This obstacle may result in fewer opportunities to originate mortgage loans to LMI families. Additionally, 11.3 percent of the families live below poverty in 2019 – 2020 and 10.4 percent in 2018.

Competition in the AA is strong. As stated above, FCN ranks fourth out of 170 lenders in home mortgage lending market share at 4 percent, as of the 2019 Peer Mortgage Data, behind three larger financial institutions. The top three mortgage lenders in this AA account for about 27 percent of the home mortgage loan originations.

Small Loans to Businesses

Refer to Table R in the state of Indiana section of appendix D for the facts and data used to evaluate the borrower distribution of the bank's originations and purchases of small loans to businesses.

The OCC compared the percentage distribution of the number of small loans to businesses originated and purchased by the bank (by annual gross revenue level) to businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less. The OCC also compared the bank's performance to aggregate small business data, as demonstrated by CRA aggregate data.

FCN exhibits excellent distribution of small loans to businesses of different sizes within the AA.

As evidenced in Table R in Appendix D for 2019 and 2020, the bank's percentage of small loans to businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less significantly exceeds CRA aggregate lending data, but is below the percentage of businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less (demographic data). In the lending analysis, the OCC considered performance context factors, including strong competition in the AA. Additionally, four larger financial institutions account for about 50 percent of the small business lending market share in the Non-MSA AA, as of the 2019 Peer Small Business Data Report.

As of 2018, the bank's percentage of small loans to businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less significantly exceeds CRA aggregate lending data but is below the percentage of businesses with annual gross revenues of \$1 million or less (demographic data). In the lending analysis, the OCC considered performance context factors, including strong competition in the AA. Additionally, four larger financial institutions account for about 46 percent of the small business lending market share in the Non-MSA AA, as of the 2018 Peer Small Business Data Report.

Responses to Complaints

The bank has not received any complaints about its CRA performance in helping to meet the AA's credit needs during the evaluation period.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT TEST

The bank's performance under the Community Development Test in the state of Indiana is rated Outstanding.

Conclusions for Area Receiving a Full-Scope Review

Based on a full-scope review, the bank exhibits excellent responsiveness to CD needs in the state through CD loans, qualified investments, and CD services, as appropriate, considering the bank's capacity and the need and availability of such opportunities for CD in the bank's AA.

FCN was particularly responsive to the current COVID-19 pandemic, and its level of CD loans were highly impactful. The OCC placed more weight on CD lending, given the bank's excellent responsiveness to the COVID-19 crisis and volume of CD loans made in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Number and Amount of Community Development Loans

The CD Loans Table, shown below, sets forth the information and data used to evaluate the bank's level of CD lending. The table includes all CD loans, including multifamily loans that also qualify as CD loans.

Community Development Loans										
		Total								
Assessment Area	#	% of Total #	\$(000's)	% of Total						
				\$						
Non-MSA AA	125	98.4	\$11,159	98.7						
Statewide/Regional	2	1.6	\$145	1.3						
Loans with Direct										
Benefit										

FCN's CD lending reflects excellent responsiveness to the CD needs in the Non-MSA AA. FCN originated 125 qualified CD loans inside the Non-MSA AA and two CD loans in the broader statewide or regional area, totaling \$11.3 million, which equates to 88.4 percent of allocated tier 1 capital as of June 30, 2020.

FCN originated or renewed nine loans totaling \$1.0 million to borrowers that provide affordable housing and community services to LMI individuals. For example, FCN granted one loan totaling \$372,699 to borrowers that provide affordable housing in the Sunman, Indiana area and five loans totaling \$185,100 to borrowers that provide essential services in LMI CTs, including healthcare, meal deliveries, and transportation services.

FCN originated 116 SBA PPP loans totaling \$10.1 million to borrowers to help stabilize and revitalize local communities and to help businesses keep their workforces employed. Of the 116 loans, 14 loans totaling \$517,404 were originated in moderate-income CTs, which represents 12 percent and 5 percent of the totals in this AA, respectively. Given the current COVID-19 crisis, the PPP loans are innovative, flexible loan products, and the bank was particularly responsive to the community's needs.

Statewide/Regional Loans

FCN is responsive to the CD needs and opportunities in its AA; therefore, the OCC also considered CD lending in the broader regional area that provided direct benefit to the bank's delineated AA. The bank originated two SBA PPP loans in the broader regional area in Indiana totaling \$144,986. These loans were originated in Rush and Decatur counties, just outside the bank's Non-MSA AA.

	Qualified Investments												
		Prior	Cu	rrent Period	nt Period Total						Period Total Unfunde		Jnfunded
Assessment Area		Period*							Commitments**				
	#	\$(000's)	#	\$(000's)	#	% of	\$(000's)	% of	#	\$(000's)			
						Total #		Total \$					
Non-MSA AA	1	\$15	13	\$10	14	87.5	\$25	2.6	0	\$0			
Statewide/Regional	0	\$0	2	\$936	2	12.5	\$936	97.4	0	\$0			
Investments with													
Indirect Benefit													

Number and Amount of Qualified Investments

* Prior Period Investments' means investments made in a previous evaluation period that are outstanding as of the examination date.

** Unfunded Commitments' means legally binding investment commitments that are tracked and recorded by the institution's financial reporting system.

FCN's qualified investment activity represents adequate responsiveness. FCN originated 14 qualified CD investments and donations inside the Non-MSA AA and two CD investments in the broader statewide or regional area, totaling \$961,328 which equates to 7.5 percent of allocated tier 1 capital based on total deposits in the AA as of June 30, 2020.

FCN purchased one qualified CRA investment in 2012 with a book value of \$500,000. As of December 31, 2020, the remaining book value is \$15,082. The bond funds the Great Lakes Capital Fund of Indiana, which is a non-profit community development finance organization that supports affordable housing needs. Primarily, the organization provides low-income housing tax credit investing in the state of Indiana, which includes the bank's AA.

During the evaluation period, FCN made 13 qualifying donations totaling \$10,550 to 8 different organizations in the Non-MSA AA. The organizations provide services to LMI individuals, including donations to organizations to support COVID-19 relief, schools with more than 50 percent of their student population qualifying for free and reduced lunch, and community foundations that provide scholarships, grants, and promote economic development.

Statewide/Regional Investments

FCN is responsive to the CD needs and opportunities in its AA; therefore, the OCC also considered CD investments in the broader regional area that provided indirect benefit to the bank's delineated AA. FCN made two qualified investments outside the Non-MSA AA within the state of Indiana. Both investments were school district revenue bonds within qualifying districts based on the free and reduced school lunch program eligibility.

Extent to Which the Bank Provides Community Development Services

FCN provided an excellent level of CD services during the review period and had a positive impact on AAs' needs. During the evaluation period, the bank had 15 employees provide CD services to 18 different organizations in the AAs, totaling over 766 hours during the review period. Twelve of these employees provided CD qualified services in both the State of Indiana and the MMSA rating areas. Of note, many of these services were performed in Franklin County, which was only in the Non-MSA AA for one year (2018) of the evaluation period. The OCC noted that multiple employees serve as either a board member, treasurer, or executive committee member of CD organizations, demonstrating a high level of involvement and leadership.

Bank personnel provide technical and financial expertise in the Non-MSA AA within the state of Indiana. During the CD evaluation period, multiple bank officers and/or employees provided CD qualifying services to various community organizations. These organizations provide essential services to LMI individuals as well as services to organizations dedicated to promoting economic development and stabilization. For example, a bank employee works with the Fayette County Community Foundation as a board member, which establishes endowments, grants, provides educational scholarships, and connects donors and non-profit agencies to improve the quality of life in Fayette County.

Appendix A: Scope of Examination

The following table identifies the time period covered in this evaluation, affiliate activities that were reviewed, and loan products considered. The table also reflects the MSA(s) and non-MSA(s) that received comprehensive examination review, designated by the term "full-scope," and those that received a less comprehensive review, designated by the term "limited-scope".

Time Period Reviewed:	1/1/2018 - 12/31/2020		
Bank Products Reviewed:	Home mortgage and small business loans CD loans, qualified investments, and CD services		
Affiliate(s)	Affiliate Relationship	Products Reviewed	
None			
List of Assessment Areas and Typ	e of Examination		
Rating and Assessment Areas	Type of Exam	Other Information	
MMSA	~ · ·		
Cincinnati MMSA AA	Full-Scope	 2018 - The AA included all of Dearborn and Union counties in Indiana and portions of Hamilton and Butler counties in Ohio. 2019 - 2020 - The AA included all of Dearborn, Franklin, and Union counties in Indiana and portions of Hamilton and Butler counties in Ohio. The OCC completed a separate analysis for 2018 and 2019 - 2020 due Franklin County, Indiana moving from the Non-MSA to the MMSA. 	
State - Indiana			
Non-MSA AA	Full-Scope	 2018 - The AA included all of Franklin and Fayette counties and portions of Decatur, Ripley, and Rush counties in Indiana. 2019 - 2020 - The AA included Fayette County in its entirety and portions of Decatur, Ripley, and Rush counties in Indiana. The OCC completed a separate analysis for 2018 and 2019 - 2020 due Franklin County, Indiana moving from the Non-MSA to the MMSA. 	

RATINGS: FCN Bank, National Association				
Overall Bank:	Lending Test Rating*	CD Test Rating	Overall Bank/State/ Multistate Rating	
FCN Bank, National Association	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	
MMSA:				
Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN MMSA 17140	Outstanding	Outstanding	Outstanding	
State:				
Indiana	Satisfactory	Outstanding	Satisfactory	

Appendix B: Summary of MMSA and State Ratings

 Indiana
 Satisfactory
 Outstanding
 Satisfactory

 (*) The Lending Test and Community Development Test carry equal weight in the overall rating.

Appendix C: Definitions and Common Abbreviations

The following terms and abbreviations are used in this performance evaluation, including the CRA tables. The definitions are intended to provide the reader with a general understanding of the terms, not a strict legal definition.

Affiliate: Any company that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with another company. A company is under common control with another company if the same company directly or indirectly controls both companies. For example, a bank subsidiary is controlled by the bank and is, therefore, an affiliate.

Aggregate Lending (Aggt.): The number of loans originated and purchased by all reporting lenders (HMDA or CRA) in specified income categories as a percentage of the aggregate number of loans originated and purchased by all reporting lenders in the state/assessment area.

Census Tract (CT): A small, relatively permanent statistical subdivision of a county delineated by a local committee of census data users for the purpose of presenting data. Census tracts nest within counties, and their boundaries normally follow visible features, but may follow legal geography boundaries and other non-visible features in some instances, Census tracts ideally contain about 4,000 people and 1,600 housing units.

Combined Statistical Area (CSA): A geographic entity consisting of two or more adjacent Core Based Statistical Areas with employment interchange measures of at least 15. An employment interchange measure is a measure of ties between two adjacent entities. The employment interchange measure is the sum of the percentage of workers living in the smaller entity who work in the larger entity and the percentage of employment in the smaller entity that is accounted for by workers who reside in the larger entity.

Community Development (CD): Affordable housing (including multifamily rental housing) for low- or moderate-income individuals; community services targeted to low- or moderate-income individuals; activities that promote economic development by financing businesses or farms that meet Small Business Administration Development Company or Small Business Investment Company programs size eligibility standards or have gross annual revenues of \$1 million or less; or activities that revitalize or stabilize low- or moderate-income geographies, distressed or underserved nonmetropolitan middle-income geographies, or designated disaster areas.

Community Reinvestment Act (CRA): The statute that requires the OCC to evaluate a bank's record of meeting the credit needs of its entire community, including LMI areas, consistent with the safe and sound operation of the bank, and to take this record into account when evaluating certain corporate applications filed by the bank.

Consumer Loan(s): A loan(s) to one or more individuals for household, family, or other personal expenditures. A consumer loan does not include a home mortgage, small business, or small farm loan. This definition includes the following categories: motor vehicle loans, credit card loans, other secured consumer loans, and other unsecured consumer loans.

Family: Includes a householder and one or more other persons living in the same household who are related to the householder by birth, marriage, or adoption. The number of family households always equals the number of families; however, a family household may also include non-relatives living with the family. Families are classified by type as either a married-couple family or other family, which is further classified into 'male householder' (a family with a male householder' and no wife present) or 'female householder' (a family with a female householder and no husband present).

Full-Scope Review: Performance under the Lending, Investment, and Service Tests is analyzed considering performance context, quantitative factors (e.g., geographic distribution, borrower distribution, and total number and dollar amount of investments), and qualitative factors (e.g., innovativeness, complexity, and responsiveness).

Geography: A census tract delineated by the United States Bureau of the Census in the most recent decennial census.

Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA): The statute that requires certain mortgage lenders that conduct business or have banking offices in a metropolitan statistical area to file annual summary reports of their mortgage lending activity. The reports include such data as the race, gender, and the income of applicants, the amount of loan requested, the disposition of the application (e.g., approved, denied, and withdrawn), the lien status of the collateral, any requests for preapproval, and loans for manufactured housing.

Home Mortgage Loans: A closed-end mortgage loan or an open-end line of credit as these terms are defined under 12 CFR 1003.2, and that is not an excluded transaction under 12 CFR 1003.3(c)(1) through (c)(10) and (c)(13).

Household: Includes all persons occupying a housing unit. Persons not living in households are classified as living in group quarters. In 100 percent tabulations, the count of households always equals the count of occupied housing units.

Limited-Scope Review: Performance under the Lending, Investment, and Service Tests is analyzed using only quantitative factors (e.g., geographic distribution, borrower distribution, total number and dollar amount of investments, and branch distribution).

Low-Income Individual: Individual income that is less than 50 percent of the area median income.

Low Income Geography: A census tract with a median family income that is less than 50 percent.

Market Share: The number of loans originated and purchased by the institution as a percentage of the aggregate number of loans originated and purchased by all reporting lenders in the state/assessment area.

Median Family Income (MFI): The median income determined by the U.S. Census Bureau every five years and used to determine the income level category of geographies. The median is the point at which half of the families have income above, and half below, a range of incomes. Also, the median income determined by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) annually that is used to determine the income level category of individuals. For any given area, the median is the point at which half of the families have income above, and half below, a range of incomes.

Metropolitan Division (MD): As defined by Office of Management and Budget, a county or group of counties within a Core Based Statistical Area that contains an urbanized population of at least 2.5 million. A Metropolitan Division consists of one or more main/secondary counties that represent an employment center or centers, plus adjacent counties associated with the main/secondary county or counties through commuting ties.

Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA): An area, defined by the Office of Management and Budget, as a core based statistical area associated with at least one urbanized area that has a population of at least 50,000. The Metropolitan Statistical Area comprises the central county or counties containing the core, plus adjacent outlying counties having a high degree of social and economic integration with the central county or counties as measured through commuting.

Middle-Income: Individual income that is at least 80 percent and less than 120 percent of the area median income, or a median family income that is at least 80 percent and less than 120 percent, in the case of a geography

Moderate-Income: Individual income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent of the area median income, or a median family income that is at least 50 percent and less than 80 percent, in the case of a geography.

Multifamily: Refers to a residential structure that contains five or more units.

Owner-Occupied Units: Includes units occupied by the owner or co-owner, even if the unit has not been fully paid for or is mortgaged.

Qualified Investment: A qualified investment is defined as any lawful investment, deposit, membership share, or grant that has as its primary purpose community development.

Rating Area: A rated area is a state or multi-state metropolitan statistical area. For an institution with domestic branches in only one state, the institution's CRA rating would be the state rating. If an institution maintains domestic branches in more than one state, the institution will receive a rating for each state in which those branches are located. If an institution maintains domestic branches in two or more states within a multi-state metropolitan statistical area, the institution will receive a rating for the multi-state metropolitan statistical area.

Small Loan(s) to Business(es): A loan included in 'loans to small businesses' as defined in the Consolidated Report of Condition and Income (Call Report) instructions. These loans have original amounts of \$1 million or less and typically are either secured by nonfarm or nonresidential real estate or are classified as commercial and industrial loans.

Small Loan(s) to Farm(s): A loan included in 'loans to small farms' as defined in the instructions for preparation of the Consolidated Report of Condition and Income (Call Report). These loans have original amounts of \$500,000 or less and are either secured by farmland or are classified as loans to finance agricultural production and other loans to farmers.

Tier 1 Capital: The total of common shareholders' equity, perpetual preferred shareholders' equity with non-cumulative dividends, retained earnings and minority interests in the equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries.

Upper-Income: Individual income that is at least 120 percent of the area median income, or a median family income that is at least 120 percent, in the case of a geography.

Content of Standardized Tables

A separate set of tables is provided for each state. All multistate metropolitan statistical areas, if applicable, are presented in one set of tables. References to the "bank" include activities of any affiliates that the bank provided for consideration (refer to appendix A: Scope of the Examination). For purposes of reviewing the Lending Test tables, the following are applicable: (1) purchased are treated as originations; and (2) "aggregate" is the percentage of the aggregate number of reportable loans originated and purchased by all HMDA or CRA-reporting lenders in the MMSA/assessment area. Deposit data are compiled by the FDIC and are available as of June 30th of each year. Tables without data are not included in this PE.

The following is a listing and brief description of the tables included in each set:

- Table O.Assessment Area Distribution of Home Mortgage Loans by Income Category of the
Geography Compares the percentage distribution of the number of loans originated and
purchased by the bank in low-, moderate-, middle-, and upper-income geographies to the
percentage distribution of owner-occupied housing units throughout those geographies. The
table also presents aggregate peer data for the years the data is available.
- Table P.Assessment Area Distribution of Home Mortgage Loans by Income Category of the
Borrower Compares the percentage distribution of the number of loans originated and
purchased by the bank to low-, moderate-, middle-, and upper-income borrowers to the
percentage distribution of families by income level in each MMSA/assessment area. The
table also presents aggregate peer data for the years the data is available.
- Table Q.Assessment Area Distribution of Loans to Small Businesses by Income Category of
the Geography The percentage distribution of the number of small loans (less than or
equal to \$1 million) to businesses that were originated and purchased by the bank in low-,
moderate-, middle-, and upper-income geographies compared to the percentage distribution
of businesses (regardless of revenue size) in those geographies. Because aggregate small
business data are not available for geographic areas smaller than counties, it may be
necessary to compare bank loan data to aggregate data from geographic areas larger than
the bank's assessment area.
- Table R.Assessment Area Distribution of Loans to Small Businesses by Gross Annual Revenue
- Compares the percentage distribution of the number of small loans (loans less than or
equal to \$1 million) originated and purchased by the bank to businesses with revenues of
\$1 million or less to: 1) the percentage distribution of businesses with revenues of greater
than \$1 million; and, 2) the percentage distribution of businesses for which revenues are
not available. The table also presents aggregate peer small business data for the years the
data is available.
- Table S.Assessment Area Distribution of Loans to Farms by Income Category of the
Geography The percentage distribution of the number of small loans (less than or equal
to \$500,000) to farms originated and purchased by the bank in low-, moderate-, middle-,

and upper-income geographies compared to the percentage distribution of farms (regardless of revenue size) throughout those geographies. The table also presents aggregate peer data for the years the data is available. Because aggregate small farm data are not available for geographic areas smaller than counties, it may be necessary to use geographic areas larger than the bank's assessment area.

- Table T.Assessment Area Distribution of Loans to Farms by Gross Annual Revenues -
Compares the percentage distribution of the number of small loans (loans less than or equal
to \$500 thousand) originated and purchased by the bank to farms with revenues of \$1
million or less to: 1) the percentage distribution of farms with revenues of greater than \$1
million; and, 2) the percentage distribution of farms for which revenues are not available.
The table also presents aggregate peer small farm data for the years the data is available.
- Table U.Assessment Area Distribution of Consumer Loans by Income Category of the
Geography Compares the percentage distribution of the number of loans originated and
purchased by the bank in low-, moderate-, middle-, and upper-income geographies to the
percentage distribution of households in those geographies.
- Table V.Assessment Area Distribution of Consumer Loans by Income Category of the
Borrower Compares the percentage distribution of the number of loans originated and
purchased by the bank to low-, moderate-, middle-, and upper-income borrowers to the
percentage distribution of households by income level in each MMSA/assessment area.
-

MMSA

	Tot	tal Home N	lortgage	Loans	Low-l	ncome	Tracts	Moderat	te-Incor	ne Tracts	Middle	-Incom	e Tracts	Upper-	Income	Tracts	Not Av	ailable- Tracts	Income
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units			% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units			% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate
Cincinnati MMSA AA	40	5,930	100.0	3,385	1.4	0.0	0.3	6.5	2.5	7.3	81.0	87.5	80.9	10.4	5.0	10.1	0.7	5.0	1.5

Table O: A	Asses	ssment A	rea D	istribu	ition of	Hon	e Mort	gage Lo	oans l	by Incol	ne Cato	egory	of the (Geogra	phy			2	2019-20
	Та	otal Home M	ortgage I	loans	Low-	Income	Tracts	Moderat	te-Incon	ne Tracts	Middle	-Incom	e Tracts	Upper	Incom	e Tracts	Not Av	ailable- Tracts	Income
Assessment Area:	#	\$		Overall Market	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units			% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units			*-	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate
Cincinnati MMSA AA	700	112,460	100.0	4,562	0.0	0.0	0.0	11.1	13.9	9.9	80.0	82.7	80.1	8.4	1.7	8.7	0.5	1.7	1.3
Source: 2015 AC Due to rounding		,			enk Data, 20)19 HM	DA Aggrega	te Data.											

	Tot	al Home M	lortgage	Loans	Low-In	come Bo	orrowers		erate-In Borrowe		Middle-I	ncome l	Borrowers	Upper-I	ncome E	Borrowers		vailable- Borrowe	-Income ers
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregat
Cincinnati MMSA AA	40	5,930	100.0	3,385	18.8	10.0	10.7	17.9	17.5	20.7	23.2	30.0	24.3	40.1	35.0	30.6	0.0	7.5	13.7

	Та	otal Home Mo	ortgage L	oans	Low-In	come B	orrowers		erate-Ir Borrowe		Middle-I	ncome	Borrowers	Upper-I	ncome H	Borrowers		vailable- Borrowe	-Income ers
Assessment Area:	#	\$		Overall Market	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregat
Cincinnati MMSA AA	700	112,460	100.0	4,562	18.2	9.6	8.0	18.1	21.9	21.2	22.8	27.3	24.7	40.9	34.7	32.1	0.0	6.6	14.0

			oans to Sr sinesses	nall	Low-I	ncome	Fracts	Moderate	e-Incon	ie Tracts	Middle-	Income	Tracts	Upper-	Income	Tracts	Not Availal	ble-Inco	ome Tract
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregat									
Cincinnati MMSA AA	20	3,292	100.0	1,638	2.5	5.0	7.3	16.0	5.0	13.3	67.7	80.0	67.6	8.2	10.0	7.3	5.5	0.0	4.5

			oans to Sr sinesses	nall	Low-I	ncome	Fracts	Moderat	e-Incon	ne Tracts	Middle	-Income	e Tracts	Upper-	Income	Tracts	Not Availa	ble-Inco	ome Tract
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregat									
Cincinnati MMSA AA	40	4,635	100.0	1,884	0.0	0.0	0.0	21.2	42.5	19.1	67.8	57.5	71.0	6.3	0.0	6.8	4.7	0.0	3.1

		Total Loans to	Small Businesse	25	Businesses	with Revenues	s <= 1MM	Businesses wit 1M		Businesses wi Not Av	
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	% Businesses	% Bank Loans
Cincinnati MMSA AA	20	3,292	100.0	1,638	82.0	70.0	48.0	6.1	30.0	11.9	0.0

]	Fotal Loans to	Small Businesse	es	Businesses	with Revenues	s <= 1MM	Businesses wit 1M		Businesses wi Not Av	
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	% Businesses	% Bank Loans
Cincinnati MMSA AA	40	4,635	100.0	1,884	84.7	75.0	47.1	5.0	22.5	10.3	2.5

State of Indiana

	To	tal Home M	lortgage	Loans	Low-I	ncome	Tracts	Moderat	te-Incor	ne Tracts	Middle	-Incom	e Tracts	Upper-	-Income	e Tracts	Not Av	ailable- Tracts	-Income
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	L lccunied		00 0	-	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		00 0	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		00 0
Non- MSA AA	162	19,986	100.0	2,589	0.0	0.0	0.0	18.4	13.0	20.1	50.3	50.0	45.9	31.3	37.0	34.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

	То	otal Home M	ortgage I	Loans	Low-l	ncome	Tracts	Moderat	te-Incor	ne Tracts	Middle	-Incom	e Tracts	Upper	-Incom	e Tracts	Not Av	ailable- Tracts	-Income
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		00 0	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		00 0	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregate	% of Owner- Occupied Housing Units		Aggregat
Non- MSA AA	281	42,950	100.0	2,218	0.0	0.0	0.0	19.4	7.5	23.2	45.9	33.8	40.4	34.7	58.7	36.4	0.0	0.0	0.0

	Tot	tal Home M	lortgage	Loans	Low-In	come Bo	orrowers		lerate-Ir Borrowe		Middle-I	ncome I	Borrowers	Upper-I	ncome E	Borrowers		ailable- Borrowe	Income rs
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregat
Non-MSA AA	162	19,986	100.0	2,589	18.5	6.2	8.7	19.2	25.9	24.3	21.1	19.8	22.8	41.2	40.1	32.1	0.0	8.0	12.1

	To	otal Home M	ortgage L	oans	Low-In	come B	orrowers		erate-Ir Borrowe		Middle-I	ncome	Borrowers	Upper-I	ncome H	Borrowers		vailable- Borrowe	-Income ers
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Families	% Bank Loans	Aggregate
Non-MSA AA	281	42,950	100.0	2,218	19.4	8.9	9.1	19.3	18.1	24.4	21.0	21.7	20.9	40.3	47.7	31.9	0.0	3.6	13.8

			oans to Sn sinesses	nall	Low-I	ncome]	Fracts	Moderat	e-Incom	e Tracts	Middle	Income	Tracts	Upper-	Income	Tracts	Not Availal	ble-Inco	ome Tract
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregat									
Non- MSA AA	20	2,045	100.0	1,065	0.0	0.0	0.0	21.5	30.0	18.1	42.6	30.0	40.8	35.9	40.0	41.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

			oans to Sr sinesses	nall	Low-I	ncome	Fracts	Moderate	e-Incon	e Tracts	Middle-	Income	e Tracts	Upper-	Income	Tracts	Not Availa	ble-Inco	ome Tract
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate		% Bank Loans	Aggregat									
Non- MSA AA	40	5,087	100.0	780	0.0	0.0	0.0	23.7	17.5	19.4	36.1	37.5	32.9	40.2	45.0	47.7	0.0	0.0	0.0

		Total Loans to	Small Businesse	es	Businesses	with Revenue	s <= 1MM	Businesses wit 1M		Businesses wi Not Av	
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	% Businesses	% Bank Loans
Non-MSA AA	20	2,045	100.0	1,065	78.5	70.0	47.6	5.9	15.0	15.6	15.0

		Total Loans to	Small Businesse	es	Businesses	with Revenues	s <= 1MM	Businesses wit 1M		Businesses wi Not Av	
Assessment Area:	#	\$	% of Total	Overall Market	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	Aggregate	% Businesses	% Bank Loans	% Businesses	% Bank Loans
Non-MSA AA	40	5,087	100.0	780	80.4	67.5	47.9	5.2	27.5	14.4	5.0

PLACES

With six convenient area locations, and over 37,000 MoneyPass ATMs worldwide, you're never more than a hop, skip, and a jump away from access to your FCN accounts. Add in our online/mobile banking and iTalk Phone System, and you could say that FCN goes wherever you do.

FCN LOCATIONS

BROOKVILLE

501 Main St. P.O. Box 37 Brookville, IN 47012

765-647-4116

Main Lobby / Drive-Up Lobby M-Th 8:30 - 4:00 F 8:30 - 5:00 S 8:30 - 12:00

Drive-Up M-Th 8:00 - 5:00 F 8:00 - 5:30 S 8:00 - 12:00

CONNERSVILLE

105 W. 3rd St. Connersville, IN 47331

765-825-7251

Lobby M-Th 8:30 - 4:00 F 8:30 - 5:00 S 8:30 - 12:00

BATESVILLE

1060 State Rd. 229 N. P.O. Box 60 Batesville, IN 47006

812-934-9078

Lobby M-Th 8:30 - 4:00 F 8:30 - 5:00 S 8:30 - 12:00







Drive-Up M-Th 8:00 - 5:00 F 8:00 - 5:30 S 8:00 - 12:00



Drive-Up M-Th 8:00 - 5:00 F 8:00 - 5:30 S 8:00 - 12:00

SUNMAN

226 N. Meridian St. P.O. Box 460 Sunman, IN 47041

812-623-8900

Lobby M-Th 8:30 - 4:00 F 8:30 - 5:00 S 8:30 - 12:00

HARRISON

590 Ring Rd. P.O. Box 511 Harrison, OH 45030

513-367-6111

Lobby M-Th 8:30 - 4:00 F 8:30 - 5:00 S 8:30 - 12:00

LAWRENCEBURG

595 W. Eads Parkway Lawrenceburg, IN 47025

812-537-0940

Lobby M-Th 8:30 - 4:00 F 8:30 - 5:00 S 8:30 - 12:00



Drive-Up M-Th 8:00 - 5:00 F 8:00 - 5:30 S 8:00 - 12:00



Drive-Up M-Th 8:00 - 5:00 F 8:00 - 5:30 S 8:00 - 12:00



Drive-Up M-Th 8:00 - 5:00 F 8:00 - 5:30 S 8:00 - 12:00



Building Stronger Communities.

fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com

NEW FEE SCHEDULE

Fee Schedule Effective September 1st, 2022

FEES AND CHARGES. The following fees and charges may be assessed against your account:

Check printing fees vary by the style of check ordered.	
Replacement Debit Card	\$7.50
Counter Checks – 4 checks for \$1.00	
Cashier's Check	\$5.00
Money Order	\$3.00
Overdraft (each item)	\$30.00
*An overdraft fee of \$30.00 will be charged per item covering overdrafts created	
by check, in-person withdrawal, or other electronic means.	
Nonsufficient funds (each item)	\$30.00
*An NSF fee of \$30.00 will be charged per item for covering NFS's created by check,	
in-person withdrawal, or other electronic means.	
Return Item Fee (each item)	\$15.00
Account Activity Printout	\$3.00
Special Statement Cutoff	\$2.00
Account Research - \$25.00 per hour, 1 hour minimum	4
Telephone Transfer Fee (per transfer)	\$3.00
Stop Payment (all items)	\$30.00
Wire Transfer (incoming)	\$15.00
Wire Transfer (outgoing)	\$25.00
Garnishments	\$50.00
Levies	\$50.00
Dormant Account - \$5.00 per month	
An account is dormant if: There have been no deposits or withdrawals to the	
account for a period of 1 year for a checking account and a period of 3 years	
for a savings account.	\$25.00
Abandoned Property Fee	\$2.00
Duplicate 1098 and/or 1099	\$25.00
Collection Fee	\$2.00
Fax Fee (per page)	\$25.00
IRA Transfer Fee (outgoing)	\$2.00
Notary Fee (non-customer)	\$10.00
Safe Deposit Box – Late Fee	\$125.00
Safe Deposit Box – Lost Key Rekey Fee	\$175.00
Safe Deposit Box – Safe Deposit Drilling Fee	\$25.00
Safe Deposit Box – Defective Key Replacement	\$50.00
Court Order	\$25.00
Early Account Closing Fee (within 90 days of opening the account)	



Building Stronger Communities.

fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com

FCN Bank | Building Stronger Communities.

That's how banking should be, and how it is at FCN. Our goal is to bring you the products and services you need combined with the responsive, personal service you deserve. Whether you need a great free checking account or an IRA to make retirement a little more comfortable, the FCN team is here to deliver personalized banking!

PERSONAL CHECKING

FCN Bank offers a full line of personal checking accounts tailored to fit your specific needs plus the expertise to help you choose the right account. Our Online and Mobile Banking make it easy to manage your account. Whether you're a student or a senior or at any stage of life in between, we have a checking account that will work for you.

FCN checking accounts include:

 Electronic and/or physical statements may be available (including imaged checks)

Available per request:

- Automatic overdraft protection
- Debit card
- iTalk 24-Hour phone access
- Online banking
- Combined statements

When opening a new account, or if you're in need of a replacement card, we will provide you with a new personalized card in minutes!*

*Fees and conditions may apply.

Free Checking

You'll love no monthly fees and unlimited check writing.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$50.00
- Balance Requirement: None
- Service Charge: None
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Interest Payments: None
- eStatements Required: Yes
- Paper Statements Available: No



Regular Checking

Our standard account featuring unlimited check writing.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$25.00
- Balance Requirement: \$300.00 Daily
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$5.50 per month
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Interest Payments: None
- Paper or eStatements Available: Yes

Student Checking

Perfect for full-time students when cash is hard to come by.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$25.00
- Balance Requirement: None
- Service Charge: None
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Interest Payments: None
- eStatements Required: Yes
- Paper Statements Available: No

Senior Citizens Checking

For our customers age 62 and better.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$25.00
- Balance Requirement: None
- Service Charge: None
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Interest Payments: None
- Paper or eStatements Available: Yes

NOW Account

Earn interest when you maintain a higher balance.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$800.00
- Balance Requirement: \$800.00 Daily
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$7.50 per month
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Interest Payments: Variable interest rate, compounded monthly
- Paper or eStatements Available: Yes

Privilege Account

An interest-bearing account for our customers 50 and better.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$25.00
- Balance Requirement: \$5,000.00 Daily total on deposit in any combination of qualifying FCN accounts: Checking, Savings, CDs, or IRAs.
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$7.50 per month
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Standard Checks: Free
- Money Orders/Cashier's Checks: Free
- Interest Payments: Variable interest rate, compounded monthly
- Safe Deposit Box: 15% discount on rental
- Paper or eStatements Available: Yes

Money Market Account

Higher interest account for customers who write fewer checks.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$5,000.00
- Balance Requirement: \$5,000.00 Daily
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$5.00 per month
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per month; \$2.00 per withdrawal
- Interest Payments: Variable interest rate, compounded monthly
- Paper or eStatements Available: Yes

Platinum Money Market Account

Earn a higher rate with this tiered account.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$25,000.00
- Balance Requirement: \$25,000.00 Daily
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$10.00 per month
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per month; \$10.00 per withdrawal
- Interest Payments: Variable interest rate, compounded monthly
- · Paper or eStatements Available: Yes

Platinum Plus Money Market Account

Geared towards individuals looking for a safe place to store lifetime savings.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$250,000.00
- Balance Requirement: \$250,000.00 Daily
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$30.00 per month
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per month; \$10.00 per withdrawal
- Interest Payments: Variable interest rate, compounded monthly
- Paper or eStatements Available: Yes



Building Stronger Communities.

fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com

FDIC 🚊 🖪

PERSONAL BANKING • CHECKING • 12/21

That's how banking should be, and how it is at FCN. Our goal is to bring you the products and services you need combined with the responsive, personal service you deserve. Whether you need a great free checking account or an IRA to make retirement a little more comfortable, the FCN team is here to deliver personalized banking!

HEALTH SAVINGS ACCOUNTS (HSA)

A Health Savings Account (HSA) is an account that allows you to save for future medical expenses while incurring other benefits such as:

Interest Earnings

Your savings grow through investment earnings

- Flexibility You use your pre-tax funds to pay current or future medical expenses
- Portability Your HSA stays with you regardless of change in employment or health coverage
- Ownership Unused balance carries over from year-to-year
- Triple tax benefits:
 - Tax-deductible contributions
 - Tax-deferred earnings
 - Tax-free withdrawals for qualified medical expenses

Speak to a tax specialist to find out what plan is right for you.

FCN HSA Account

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$25.00
- Balance Requirement: \$250.00 Daily
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$5.00 Monthly
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Monthly
- Interest Payment Method: Variable interest rate, compounded monthly
- Debit Card Available: Yes
- Checks: May be purchased out of pocket

Who can have an HSA?

You may contribute to an HSA if you:

- Have coverage under an HSA-qualified "high deductible health plan" (HDHP)
- Have no other first-dollar medical coverage (with limited exceptions)
- Are not enrolled in Medicare
- Cannot be claimed as a dependent on someone else's tax return

About High Deductible Health Plans (HDHPs)

You must have coverage under an HSA-qualified "high deductible health plan" (HDHP) to open and contribute to an HSA. Generally, this is health insurance that does not cover first medical expenses.

High Deductib	le Healt	h Plan Limits	的或相關認識
		Self Coverage Only	Family Coverage
Minimum	2023	\$1,500	\$3,000
deductible	2024	\$1,600	\$3,200
Maximum	2023	\$7,500	\$15,000
out-of-pocket expenses	2024	\$8,050	\$16,100

HSA Contributions

You can make a contribution to your HSA each year that you are eligible. HSA contributions are generally tax-deductible. The maximum annual HSA contribution limits for 2023 and 2024 are:

	Self Coverage Only	lf age 55 or older	Family Coverage	lf age 55 or older
2023	\$3,850	\$4,850	\$7,750	\$8,750
2024	\$4,150	\$5,150	\$8,300	\$9,300

Three ways to make contributions to your HSA:

- Pre-tax salary deductions if your employer offers this benefit, payroll deductions are exempt from most taxes (Check with your employer)
- Employer contributions made directly to your HSA by your employer
- Direct contributions
 - 1. Transfer from a personal account in person or online
- 2. Mail in a deposit

Using Your HSA

You can use the money in the account to pay for any "qualified medical expense" permitted under federal tax law. This includes most medical care and services, dental and vision care.

The following list is a sample of the qualified eligible medical expenses for reimbursement.

(For more information, refer to Publication 502 on the IRS website at www.irs.gov.)

- Acupuncture
- Ambulance
- Annual Physical Exam
- Bandages
- Chiropractor
- Contact Lenses and Eyeglasses
- Dental treatment
- Diagnostic Services
- Gynecologist
- Hospital Services
- Laboratory Fees
- Nursing Services
- Obstetrician
- Optometrist
- Orthodontist
- Pediatrician
- Podiatrist
- Prenatal Care
- Prescription Medication
- Psychiatrist, Psychoanalyst, or Psychologist
- Specialists
- Surgery
- Therapy
- Vaccine
- Vision Correction Surgery
- Weight Loss Programs
- Wheelchair
- X-Rays

You can use the money in the account to pay for medical expenses for yourself, your spouse, or your dependent children. You can pay the expenses of your spouse and dependent children even if they are not covered by your High Deductible Health Care Plan. HSA distributions not used for qualified medical expenses are subject to ordinary income tax and if taken before age 65, a 20% IRS penalty tax will be assessed unless due to death or disability.

How are HSA distributions taxed?

Qualified distributions from your HSA are excludable from gross income. Any other distributions are included in your gross income and are subject to an additional 20% tax on the amount included, except in the following cases:

- Your death
- Your disability
- You reach the age of 65

Any HSA distributions that are not rolled over will be taxed as income in the year they are distributed, unless used for qualified medical expenses. HSA custodians/trustees are not required to determine whether HSA distributions are qualified. The qualified medical expenses must be incurred only after the HSA has been established.

When is the contribution deadline for funding an HSA?

Any contributions for the taxable year can be made in one or more payments, at the convenience of the individual or the employer, at any time prior to the time prescribed by law (without extensions) for filing the eligible individual's federal income tax return for that year, but not before the beginning of that year. For calendar year taxpayers, the deadline for contributions to an HSA is generally April 15 following the year for which the contributions are made. Although the annual contribution is determined monthly, the maximum contribution may be made on the first day of the year.

What happens to my HSA in the event of my death?

If you are married and your spouse is your beneficiary, the HSA becomes his/her HSA. If your beneficiary is not your spouse, the HSA ceases to be an HSA effective on the date of your death. The proceeds will be included in the beneficiary's gross income for the year of death.



Building Stronger Communities.

fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com



That's how banking should be, and how it is at FCN. Our goal is to bring you the products and services you need combined with the responsive, personal service you deserve. Whether you need a great free checking account or an IRA to make retirement a little more comfortable, the FCN team is here to deliver personalized banking!

PERSONAL SAVINGS

FCN Bank offers a full line of personal savings accounts to fit your specific savings goals plus the expertise to help you choose the right account. Our Online and Mobile Banking make it easy to access your account whenever it's convenient for you. Whatever your savings goals, we have a savings account that will help you achieve them.

All of our savings accounts include:

- · Quarterly or annual statements
- 24-Hour phone access
- Online banking available with sign-up
- Combined statements available with sign-up



Regular Savings

Our standard account with a low balance requirement.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$25.00
- Balance Requirement: \$300.00 Quarterly Avg.
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$3.00 Per Quarter
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per Quarter: \$1.00 per withdrawal
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Quarterly
- Interest Payment Method: Variable interest rate, compounded quarterly
- Debit Card Available: Yes, with linked checking account

Greenback

Earn higher interest rates than our standard account.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$2,500.00
- Balance Requirement: \$2,500.00 Quarterly Avg.
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$5.00 Per Quarter
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per Quarter: \$1.00 per withdrawal
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Quarterly
- Interest Payment Method: Variable interest rate, compounded quarterly
- Debit Card Available: Yes, with linked checking account

Greenback Plus+

Earn a great interest rate and maintain easy access to your cash.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$15,000.00
- Balance Requirement: \$15,000.00 Quarterly Avg.
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$15.00 Per Quarter
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per Quarter: \$2.50 per withdrawal
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Quarterly
- Interest Payment Method: Variable interest rate, compounded quarterly
- Debit Card Available: Yes, with linked checking account

Beginner's Savings

Students 17 and under start a lifetime habit of savings.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$10.00
- Balance Requirement: \$25.00 Yearly Avg.
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$3.00 Annually
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per Year: \$1.00 per withdrawal
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Annually
- Interest Payment Method: Variable interest rate, compounded yearly
- Debit Card Available: No
- No electronic transactions

Dollar's Savings Club

Woof! Woof! My name is Dollar, and I am excited to tell you all about my savings club for kids ages 12 and under. Let's save together!

Join Dollar's Savings Club and you will receive:

- Dollar's dog house bank
- Coloring and activity book
- Sticker
- Official certificate of membership stamped with Dollar's paw print
- Small toy from Dollar's dog house every time you make a deposit (limit one per day)
- Dollar's Savings Club punch card. You will receive a punch for each deposit you make greater than \$5.00 (one punch per day). Once you get all 10 punches you will receive a prize!
- Savings book to keep track of your money
- Tips on how to save your money

Dollar's Savings Club is a great way to teach children about real world financial skills in a fun & friendly environment. Set your children on the right path to a lifetime of financial responsibility. Help them learn how to manage their money with a FCN Bank Dollar's Savings Club Account.



Dollar's Savings Club Account details:

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$10.00
- Balance Requirement: \$25.00 Yearly Avg.
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$3.00 Per Year
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 6 Withdrawals per Year: \$1.00 per withdrawal
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Annually
- Interest Payment Method: Variable interest rate, compounded yearly
- Debit Card Available: No
- No electronic transactions

Club Savings

Open an account and save for a special occasion.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$5.00
- Balance Requirement: \$5.00 Yearly Avg.
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$3.00 Annually
- Per Transaction Charge: Over 3 Withdrawals per year: \$1.00 per withdrawal
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Annually
- Interest Payment Method: Variable interest rate, compounded yearly
- Debit Card Available: No
- No electronic transactions



Building Stronger Communities.

fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com

FDIC 🚊 🖬

DOLLAR SAVINGS CLUB

Hi Kids!



I'm Dollar the Dog! Thanks for joining my savings club! I hope you're excited to learn all about saving money!

Now that you have opened your savings account it's time to start saving your money! Use my dog house to store your money in until you have the chance to stop by the bank and make a deposit.

You are also receiving a punch card, and for every deposit you make into your savings account over \$5 you will receiving a punch on your card. Once you get all 10 punches you will receive a prize!

Good luck saving!



Dollar

Dollar's Tips for Parents

- 1. Teach your children to save their money starting at a young age.
- 2. Help your children open savings accounts.
- 3. Encourage your children to help you manage your household bills.
- 4. Look for children's financial literacy programs that are going on in your community.
- 5. Help your children open checking accounts.
- 6. Teach your children how to create and stick to a budget.



Building Stronger Communities.



fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com

FDKC

PERSONAL BANKING . SAVINGS . 12/21

PROFITS

Whether your business is small or large, at FCN we treat every business owner like the chairman of the board. It starts with taking the time to understand your business, and then being there for you with the right products and responsive service you need to gain an advantage on your competition and boost your bottom lines. We measure our success by yours!

BUSINESS BANKING

Unlimited Free Small Business Checking

We asked our customers what services they wanted from a bank today, and they said, "free checking", and that's how Unlimited Free Small Business Checking was born.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$100.00
- Balance Requirement: None
- Per Transaction Charge: None
- Allowed Checks Written Each Month: Unlimited
- Allowed Transactions Each Month: Unlimited
- Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Monthly
- Business Debit Card Available: Yes
- Business Credit Card Available: Yes
- Credit Card Processing Services Available: Yes
- Currency and Coin Orders: Free

BusinessNOW Checking

An interest-bearing checking account for sole proprietorships and non-profits.

- Minimum Opening Deposit: \$800.00
- Balance Requirement: \$800.00 Daily
- Service Charge (Required Balance Not Maintained): \$7.50 per month
- Allowed Checks Written Each Month: Unlimited
- Currency and Coin Orders: Free
- · Statements Mailed or Sent Electronically: Monthly
- Business Debit Card Available: Yes
- Business Credit Card Available: Yes
- Credit Card Processing Services Available: Yes
- Interest Payments: Variable interest rate, compounded monthly





That's how banking should be, and how it is at FCN. Our goal is to bring you the products and services you need combined with the responsive, personal service you deserve. Whether you need a great free checking account or an IRA to make retirement a little more comfortable, the FCN team is here to deliver personalized banking!

IRAs

An IRA (Individual Retirement Account) is a special savings account for your retirement, but with special tax benefits. There are two types of IRAs:

Traditional IRA

Deduct now, pay taxes later.

With a traditional IRA, you contribute pre-tax funds. This not only provides savings for your future but can significantly lower your tax bill this year.

Roth IRA

Pay taxes now, withdrawal tax-free later.

With a Roth IRA, you contribute after-tax funds. But since you've already paid taxes on these funds, your future withdrawals, including earnings, are generally tax-free.

Which one is right for me?

Which IRA is best depends on your individual needs. In general, if you expect to be in a higher tax bracket in the future, then a Roth is better. If you expect to be in the same or lower tax bracket, then a traditional is better. Having both kinds of IRAs is the safest method to plan for any eventuality in your future. Speak to a tax specialist to find out what plan is right for you.

Traditional IRAs

You can contribute to a Traditional IRA if you have received taxable income during the year. Taxable income includes things such as wages, salaries, tips, and bonuses. You can open a Traditional IRA any time of the year. Contributions must be made by your tax return due date (typically April 15). Money invested in a Traditional IRA is pre-tax money meaning that contributions and interest earned is deferred until the money is withdrawn. If you are under 50 years of age, the limit for contributions is \$6,500 for 2023 and \$7,000 for 2024. If you are age 50 or older, the contribution limit is \$7,500 for 2023 and \$8,000 for 2024. This limit can change year to year.



Roth IRAs

You can contribute to a Roth IRA if you have received taxable compensation and meet other income requirements. You can open a Roth IRA any time. Contributions must be made by your tax return due date (typically April 15th). Contributions can be made regardless of your age. If you are under 50 years of age, the limit for contributions is \$6,500 for 2023 and \$7,000 for 2024. If you are age 50 or older, the contribution limit is \$7,500 in 2023 and \$8,000 for 2024. This limit can change from year to year. Roth IRA contributions cannot be deducted. Qualified distributions are tax-free.

Withdrawing Your Money

You can withdraw money from an IRA anytime, but you may avoid penalties and additional taxes if you don't do it too early.

Withdrawals before age 59 1/2

Traditional IRA

Withdrawals will result in a 10% penalty tax plus regular income tax on the entire withdrawal.

Roth IRA

If your withdrawal exceeds more than you've contributed in total, you could be subject to both taxes and penalties on the earnings portion of your withdrawal.

Withdrawals between ages 59 ½ and 73 Traditional IRA

You will owe taxes on the withdrawals of all earnings plus any contributions you originally deducted from your taxes.

Roth IRA

Typically, withdrawals are not subject to penalties and if your Roth IRA has been open for at least 5 years¹ you'll pay no taxes on withdrawals either.

The IRS treats a Roth IRA withdrawal made more than five years after the first tax year in which you made a contribution (including earnings) as a "qualified distribution." This means it is not taxable or subject to a penalty as long as you satisfy one of these qualifying conditions: You're at least 59%, you become disabled or pass away, or you use the withdrawal (up to a \$10,000 lifetime maximum) to pay for a first-time home purchase.

Withdrawals after age 73

Traditional IRA

You must take your first required minimum distribution by April 1st of the year following the year you reach age 73 and by December 31st each year thereafter.

Roth IRA

There is no mandatory withdrawal at any age.

Additional Traditional IRA Options

SEP IRAs

A SEP IRA is a type of traditional IRA for self-employed individuals or small business owners. (SEP stands for Simplified Employee Pension.) Any business owner with one or more employees, or anyone with freelance income, can open a SEP IRA. Contributions, which are tax-deductible for the business or individual, go into a traditional IRA held in the employee's name. Employees of the business cannot contribute - the employer does. Like a traditional IRA, the money in a SEP IRA is not taxable until withdrawal.

SIMPLE IRAs

A SIMPLE IRA is a type of traditional IRA that may be established by employers, including self-employed individuals (sole proprietorships and partnerships). The SIMPLE IRA allows eligible employees to contribute part of their pretax compensation to the plan. This means the tax on the money is deferred until it is distributed.

FCN Bank IRA investment options:

- An initial investment of at least \$500
- CD IRA terms vary from 6 months to 5 years



Building Stronger Communities.

fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com

FDIC 🔒 🖪

That's how banking should be, and how it is at FCN. Our goal is to bring you the products and services you need combined with the responsive, personal service you deserve. Whether you need a great free checking account or an IRA to make retirement a little more comfortable, the FCN team is here to deliver personalized banking!

CDs

CDs are a great way to build your assets for retirement and more, as well as an excellent method to diversify your portfolio risk.

Benefits:

- No start-up fees
- Low Risk. CDs are FDIC insured, and free from the volatile stock market.
- Varying term options
- Security of savings with higher interest rates like an investment
- Guaranteed fixed rates
- Various payment options: check, add-back, direct deposit

Minimum opening balance is \$1,000. Terms range from 90 days to 5 years (penalties may be charged for early withdrawal). Interest rates vary with the amount invested and the term selected. Current rates available at fcnbank.com or visit a branch for more information.





Building Stronger Communities.

fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 | service@fcnbank.com

FDIC 🚊 🖪

PERSONAL BANKING • CDs • 12/21

SAFE DEPOSIT BOXES

Safe Deposit Boxes give you the opportunity to safely secure your valuable items.

Safe Deposit	Box Sizes and Prices
Description	Current Charge
2x5	\$20.00
3x5	\$25.00
4x5	\$30.00
5x5	\$30.00
4x7	\$30.00
3x10	\$35.00
4x10	\$40.00
5x10	\$45.00
10x10	\$80.00

Privilege Account Holders Prices Description **Current Charge** 2x5 \$17.00 3x5 \$21.25 4x5 \$25.50 5x5 \$25.50 4x7 \$25.50 3x10 \$29.75 4x10 \$34.00 \$38.25 5x10 10x10 \$68.00 Safe Denosit Boy Fees

Sate Deposit Box Fees	
Description	Current Charge
Lock Box Late Fee	\$10.00
Lost Key – Rekey Fee	\$125.00
Safe Deposit Drilling Fee	\$175.00
Defective Key Replacement	\$25.00





FCN Bank Current Branch Locations & Hours

BROOKVILLE - 765-647-4116

Tract Code 9697.00 501 Main St. P.O.Box 37 Brookville, IN 47012

Main Bank Lobby M-TH 8:30 AM - 4:00PM F 8:30 AM - 5:00 PM S 8:30AM - 12:00PM

BROOKVILLE - Drive up with ATM

Tract Code 9697.00 400 Main St. Brookville, IN 47012

Drive - Up LobbyDrive - Up WindowM-TH 8:00- 5:00M-TH 8:00 - 5:00F 8:00- 5:30F 8:00 - 5:30S 8:00 - 12:00S 8:00 - 12:00

BROOKVILLE- ATM Only

Tract Code 9697.00

9193 State Route 101 Brookville, IN 47331

LobbyDrive - UpM-TH 8:30 - 4:00M-TH 8:00 - 5:00F 8:30 - 5:00F 8:00 - 5:30S 8:30 - 12:00S 8:00 - 12:00

CONNERSVILLE- 765-825-7251

Tract Code 9545.00

105 W. 3rd St. Connersville, IN 47331

LobbyDrive - UpM-TH 8:30 - 4:00M-TH 8:00 - 5:00F 8:30 - 5:00F 8:00 - 5:30S 8:30 - 12:00S 8:00 - 12:00

CONNERSVILLE- ATM Only

Tract Code 9545.00 5444 S State Road 1 Connersville, IN 47331

BATESVILLE - 812-934-9078

Tract Code 9601.00 1060 State Rd 229 N. P.O. Box 60 Batesville, IN 47006

LobbyDrive - UpM-TH 8:30 - 4:00M-TH 8:00 - 5:00F 8:30 - 5:00F 8:00 - 5:30S 8:30 - 12:00S 8:00 - 12:00

SUNMAN - 812-623- 8900

Tract Code 9684.00

226 N. Meridian St. P.O. Box 460 Sunman, IN 47041

 Lobby
 Drive - Up

 M-TH 8:30 - 4:00
 M-TH 8:00 - 5:00

 F 8:30 - 5:00
 F 8:00- 5:30

 S 8:30- 12:00
 S 8:00- 12:00

HARRISON- 513-367-6111

Tract Code 0261.01 590 Ring Rd. P.O. Box 511 Harrison OH 45030

 Lobby
 Drive - Up

 M-TH 8:30 - 4:00
 M-TH 8:00 - 5:00

 F 8:30 - 5:00
 F 8:00 - 5:30

 S 8:30 - 12:00
 S 8:00 - 12:00

LAWRENCEBURG - 812-537-0940

Tract Code 0803.00

595 W. Eads Parkway Lawrenceburg, IN 47025

Lobby	Drive - Up
M-TH 8:30 - 4:00	M-TH 8:00 - 5:00
F 8:30 - 5:00	F 8:00- 5:30
S 8:30- 12:00	S 8:00- 12:00

fcnbank.com 800-575-3262

Brookville Connersville Batesville Sunman Harrison Lawrenceburg





Regulation BB:Section 228.43 (a) (3) & Regulation BB:Section 228.43 (a) (6)

FCN Bank Branches Assessment Area, Locations, & Geographies

ENTIRE FCN BANK ASSESSEMENT AREA (Census Tracts)

Dearborn Co 801.01 803.00	b. IN 801.0 804.0		801.04 805.00	802.01 806.00	802.02 807.00
Decatur Co. 9690.00	IN 9692.00	9693.00	9694.00		
Fayette Co. 9540.00 9545.00	IN 9541.00 9546.00	9542.00	9543.00	9544.00	
Franklin Co. 9601.00	IN 9696.00	9697.00	9698.00	9699.00	
Ripley Co. IN 9684.00	 9685.00	9686.00	9688.00	9699.00	
Rush Co. IN 9741.00	9743.00	9744.00			
Union Co. IN 9607.00	9608.00				
Butler Co. Ol 101.01 102.02	H 101.0 102.0		101.03	101.04	102.01
Hamilton Co. 260.01	OH 260.0	2	261.01	261.02	262.00



Building Stronger Communities.





fcnbank.com | 800-575-3262 Brookville | Connersville | Batesville | Sunman | Harrison | Lawrenceburg



CRA - Loan to Deposit Ratio

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec
2022	54.14%	54.11%	53.24%	53.87%	54.71%	56.81%	58.93%	58.71%	59.25%	62.70%	64.65%	64.79%
2023	64.86%	64.83%	64.59%	65.93%	67.09%	67.22%	68.85%	70.06%	70.95%	71.62%	71.62%	71.73%
2024	72.44%											



COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT ACT (CRA) PUBLIC FILE FCN BANK, NA Main Office: 501 Main Street, Brookville, IN 47012

CRA PUBLIC FILE CONTENTS

Public Comments from previous two years and FCN RESPONSE: None

Public Performance Evaluation Most Recent Examination Date: Rating: Institution Number: Regulator:

April 26, 2021 OUTSTANDING 5629 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC), Dublin, OH.

CURRENT BRANCHES and GEOGRAPHIC AREAS SERVED

GEOGRAPHIC MAP of AREAS SERVED/ASSESSMENT AREA

LIST of SERVICES, INCLUDING HOURS of OPERATION, AVAILABLE LOAN and DEPOSIT PRODUCTS, FEES

HMDA DISCLOSURE STATEMENT:

HOME MORTGAGE DISCLOSURE ACT (HMDA) REGULATION C

FCN Bank is required to report certain home mortgage loan information on annual basis to the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council pursuant to Regulation C.

Our HMDA Disclosure Statement may be obtained on the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's website at www.consumerfinance.gov/hmda.

Community Reinvestment Act Notice

Under the Federal Community Reinvestment Act (CRA), the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC or Comptroller) evaluates our record of helping to meet the credit needs of this community consistent with safe and sound operations. The OCC also takes this record into account when deciding on certain applications submitted by us.

Your involvement is encouraged.

You are entitled to certain information about our operations and our performance under the CRA, including, for example, information about our branches, such as their location and services provided at them; the public section of our most recent CRA Performance Evaluation, prepared by the OCC; and comments received from the public relating assessment area needs and opportunities, as well as our responses to those comments. You may review this information today by reviewing the public file, which is available at each FCN branch, including this one.

You may also have access to the following additional information, which we will make available to you after you make a request to us: (1) A map showing the assessment area for that particular community; (2) branch addresses and associated branch facilities and hours in any assessment area; (3) a list of services we provide at those locations; (4) our most recent rating in the assessment area; and (5) copies of all written comments received by us that specifically relate to the needs and opportunities of a given assessment area, and any responses we have made to those comments. If we are operating under an approved strategic plan, you may also have access to a copy of the plan.

At least 30 days before the beginning of each quarter, the OCC publishes a nationwide list of banks that are scheduled for CRA examination in that quarter. This list is available from the Deputy Comptroller, Central District Office, One Financial Place, Suite 2700, 440 S LaSalle St., Chicago, IL, 60605. You may send written comments regarding the needs and opportunities of any of the bank's assessment areas to Ray Gruner, CRA Officer, 501 Main Street, Brookville, IN 47012, rgruner@fcnbank.com, and the OCC at Deputy Comptroller, Central District Office, One Financial Place, Suite 2700, 440 S LaSalle St., Chicago, IL, 60605 and at CRACOMMENTS@OCC.TREAS.GOV. Your letter, together with any response by us, will be considered by the OCC in evaluating our CRA performance and may be made public.

You may ask to look at any comments received by the Deputy Comptroller. You may also request from the Deputy Comptroller an announcement of our applications covered by the CRA filed with the Comptroller. We are an affiliate of FCN Banc Corp, a bank holding company. You may request from the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, Supervision and Regulation Department, 230 South La Salle Street, Chicago, IL 60604, an announcement of applications covered by the CRA filed by bank holding companies.

Building Stronger Communities.



Regulation BB: Section 228.43 (a) (4) FCN BANK Branch Opening and Closings

There have been no branches opened or closed in the last two years.

April 2024

